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Advisory
This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) provides an analysis to enable readers to understand the
financial position and operations of Changfeng Energy Inc. (“Changfeng” or the “Company”) as at and for the year ended
December 31, 2011. This information should be read in conjunction with the accompanying audited Consolidated
Financial Statements of the Company and the notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 2011. “Changfeng" or "the
Company" includes Changfeng Energy Inc. and our subsidiaries, unless otherwise indicated.
Additional information related to Changfeng is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com or on our website at
www.changfengenergy.com.
As of January 1, 2011, the Company adopted International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and the following
disclosure, as well as the associated audited Consolidated Financial Statement, have been prepared in accordance with
IFRS. The Company’s date of transition to IFRS was January 1, 2010, to accommodate 2010 IFRS comparative figures.
We have provided information throughout this document and other publicly filed documents to assist a reader in
understanding the Company’s transition from Canadian Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (Canadian GAAP). A
comprehensive summary of all of the significant changes including the various reconciliations of Canadian GAAP
financial statements to those prepared under IFRS is included in the transition to IFRS note in our Consolidated Financial
Statements for the year ended December 31, 2011.
This MD&A contains certain non-GAAP financial measures to assist users in assessing our performance. Non-GAAP
financial measures do not have any standard meaning prescribed by GAAP and may not be comparable to similar
measures presented by other issuers. These measures are identified and described under the section “Non-GAAP
Financial Measures”.
Amounts are stated in Canadian dollars unless otherwise indicated.

Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Information
Certain statements in this MD&A may constitute “forward looking” statements which involve known and unknown risks,
uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of the Company and its
subsidiaries, or the industry in which they operate, to be materially different from any future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. When used in this report, the words “estimate”,
“believe”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “expect”, “plan”, “may”, “should”, “will”, the negative thereof or other variations
thereon or comparable terminology are intended to identify forward looking statements. Such forward looking statements
reflect the current expectations of the management of the Company with respect to future events based on currently
available information and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results, performance or
achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by those forward looking statements, such as significant
changes in market conditions, the inability of the Company to close sales and the inability of the Company to attract
sufficient financing and including the risk factors summarized below under the heading “Risk Factors”. New risk factors
may arise from time to time and it is not possible for management of the Company to predict all of those risk factors or
the extent to which any factor or combination of factors may cause actual results, performance or achievements of the
Company to be materially different from those expressed or implied in such forward looking statements. Given these
risks and uncertainties, investors should not place undue reliance on forward looking statements as a prediction of actual
results. Although the forward looking statements contained in this MD&A are based upon what management believes to
be reasonable assumptions, the Company cannot assure investors that actual results will be consistent with these forward
looking statements. The forward looking statements contained in this MD&A speak only as of the date hereof. The
Company does not undertake or assume any obligation to release publicly any revisions to these forward looking
statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events,
except as required by law.
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Overview
Changfeng is a Canadian public company currently trading on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSX-V”) under the stock
symbol “CFY”. Changfeng is a natural gas service provider in the People’s Republic of China (“the PRC or China”).
Currently, our operation are primarily located in Sanya City, Hainan province, China, where we have 30-year (20072037) exclusive concession rights to deliver and sell natural gas to both residential and commercial customers. Our
customer base and exclusive operation in Sanya city are providing, through our well-established modern gas distribution
networks, recurring revenue and solid operating cash flows to us. Since 2008, we have been actively exploring emergingmarket opportunities in mainland China that resulted from commencement of construction of the PetroChina’s Second
West-East Pipeline.
Today, Changfeng has become an emerging company in the responsible development and reliable operation of natural gas
distribution pipelines and associated facilities in China. Highlights include:
 In Sanya city, Hainan province, China
o 30-year exclusive concession rights (2007-2037) in Sanya city with wholly-owned gas distribution pipeline
networks and associated facilities;
o Secured gas supply through our annual gas quota of 24 million m3 until 2015 at a favorable price;
o Serving more than 82,000 residential and 600 commercial/industrial customers (mainly hotels and restaurants);
 In Xiangdong district, Pingxiang city, Jiangxi province, China
o 50-year exclusive concession rights (2010-2060) in the administrative region of Xiangdong district, including the
Pingxiang Industrial Ceramic Production Park (the “Park”);
o Secured gas supply through our annual gas quota of 15 million m3 in 2012 with a gradual increase up to 50
million m3 in 2004 and 2015;
o Construction on the first phase of the pipelines and associated facilities began in November 2011, and is
expected to be completed and commence the supply of gas for this region by late 2012;
 A potential significant player in the gas distribution business in Southern China, especially within the
emerging markets in Hunan, Jiangxi and Guangdong provinces along the PetroChina’s Second West-East
Pipeline.
Our primary goal is to become one of the predominant natural gas service providers in Southern China by 2015. In pursuit
of this goal, we continually strive to advance effective execution of our growth strategy by exploring strategic business
development opportunities in mainland China along the PetroChina’s Second West-East Pipeline. Currently, we have four
high-growth potential projects where we can add value, generate revenues and leverage our strength to create a long-term
sustainable value for our shareholders and our clients alike.

2011 Accomplishments
 On November 23, 2011, Changfeng announced commencement of construction of pipelines and related facilities for
the Xiangdong project. In addition, the Jiangxi Provincial Bureau of Energy approved our application of the natural
gas quota for this project. Pursuant to the approval, from 2012 to 2015, the annual quota volume of natural gas to this
project will be 15 million m3 in 2012, 35 million m3 in 2013 and up to 50 million m3 in 2014 and 2015.
 November 23, 2011, Changfeng announced, together with a company owned by the local municipality, Xiangtan
Economic Construction and Development Investment Co. Ltd. and a private investment company, Zhuhai Hailian
Investment Co., Ltd., establishment of a 50%-owned company Xiangtan Shin-Ko Energy Co., Ltd. ("Shin-Ko
Energy"). The objective of Shin-Ko Energy is to develop and invest in urban natural gas utilization, including
building and operating an LNG storage facility (the “LNG Plant”) in Xiangtan City, Hunan Province, China.
 On October 25, 2011, Changfeng was awarded BS OHSAS 18001:2007 and ISO 9001:2008 certifications,
demonstrating that our management system was recognized by the world’s accredited certifications in the field of
quality management and occupational health & safety management.
 On August 18, 2011, Changfeng announced, together with a local municipality, Xiangtan Economic Construction and
Development Investment Co. Ltd. and a private investment company, Zhuhai Hailian Investment Co., Ltd.,
establishment of a 51%-owned company Xiangtan Changfeng Natural Gas Co., Ltd. ("Xiangtan CF”). The objective
of Xiangtan CF is to (i) develop a natural gas pipeline network to serve industrial, commercial and residential
customers; and (ii) develop CNG and LNG refueling stations in Xiangtan City, Hunan Province, China.
 On March 3, 2011, the Bank of China increased our loan facility by $4,848,000 (RMB 30,000,000) in the form of a
one-year line of credit (the "Credit Line"), for which principal repayments are due one year from the date of
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withdrawal. The Credit Line is secured by the same collateral as that for our 10-year long-term bank loan of $16.2
million (RMB 100 million) that was obtained from the Bank of China in January 2010.

Subsequent Events
 On March 30, 2012, Changfeng announced renewal of the RMB 30 million ($4.8 million) one-year line of credit (the
"Credit Line") with the Bank of China (Sanya Branch) ("BOC") for an additional year, of which RMB 20 million
($3.2 million) was drawn down on March 28, 2012. This renewal allows us to continue to have access to the
necessary financial resources to grow our business.
 On March 29, 2012, Changfeng announced a proposed joint venture with CNPC Kunlun Natural Gas Exploitation
Company Limited ("CNPC Kunlun Exploitation"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of PetroChina (or "CNPC"), to jointly
develop natural gas distribution business in four prefecture-level cities in Guangdong Province, China, including
Zhaoqing City, Jiangmen City, Foshan City and Zhuhai City (collectively "Western Guangdong Area" or "Yuexi
Area"). The intended joint venture will be named Guangdong CNPC Kunlun Changfeng Investment Co., Ltd. and
will be based in Guangzhou city, the capital city of Guangdong province. Changfeng will own 49% and CNPC
Kunlun Exploitation will own 51% of the intended joint venture. CNPC Kunlun Exploitation has received regulatory
approval to develop this project. A formal joint venture agreement between the two parties is underway.
The intended joint venture will be engaged in (i) constructing and operating the gas transmission pipelines and
associated facilities (the "Pipelines") which will link from the existing and/or planned provincial trunk lines to the
industrial users, power generators and/or urban pipeline natural gas operators within Yuexi Area, and (ii) delivering
and selling natural gas to those users through the Pipelines and the provincial trunk lines.
CNPC Kunlun Exploitation has received regulatory approval from the Guangdong Provincial Development and
Reform Commission ("Guangdong DRC") to develop this project.
 On March 13, 2012, Changfeng announced final regulatory approval of our project in Xiangdong District, Pingxiang
City, Jiangxi Province, China ("Xiangdong project"). The provincial approval finally secures our 50-year concession
rights in this region.
 On March 6, 2012, Changfeng announced title sponsorship of a provincial-level table tennis tournament that was held
from the 17th to 20th March 2012 in Sanya City, Hainan Province, China. We are developing our business in some of
these provinces and believe that the title sponsorship would improve our brand awareness and market recognitions.
 On February 22, 2012, Changfeng announced launch of a Gas & Electricity Exchange Program (the "Program") for
our operation in Sanya City. The Program will allow us to acquire an additional annual gas quota of approximately 5
million m3 (176,573,000 cubic feet) until 2015. This additional quota gas will enable us to keep pace with the
growing demand for gas in Sanya city.
 On January 4, 2012, Changfeng announced regulatory approval of our proposed gas utilization project (the “LNG
Plant”) in Xiangtan City, Hunan Province, China. The regulatory approval signals the operational launch to build the
proposed LNG Plant.
Pursuant to the approval, a 79.85-mu (approximately 5.3 hectares) piece of land will be assigned for Changfeng to
build the LNG Plant. The proposed construction work comprises building an industrial metal cutting gas production
line with designed daily processing capacity of 300,000 m3 of natural gas, and associated Liquefied Natural Gas
(LNG) storage facilities, as well as sales and a distribution center to end users. The produced gas will be in liquid
form for ease of transportation and storage. The total anticipated investment is approximately RMB 200 million ($32
million) including the proposed acquisition fee for the assigned land. The approval is valid for two years from the
approval date, during which time the construction work must be commenced, otherwise, further extension application
is required if the commencement of construction does not occur on or before December 23, 2013.

Business Segments
Changfeng's businesses are organized into three segments— Gas Connections, Pipeline Gas (together the Natural Gas
Distribution Utility) and CNG refueling retail station.
Pipeline Gas Distribution Segment (Gas Connections and Pipeline Gas)
Gas connection and pipeline sales combine to form a gas distribution utility (the “Pipeline Gas Distribution”) which is
currently our primary operation.
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We operate as a Natural Gas Distribution Utility by selling gas connections to our pipeline networks and selling gas
through our pipelines. We currently derive the majority of our revenue from the distribution of natural gas through our
pipeline networks in Sanya City, Hainan Province, China.
Since 2003, we have been building extensive pipeline networks in the main district of Sanya City. Over the last three
years, we have committed significant resources to extend our gas pipeline networks from the main district of Sanya City
to the Haitang Bay area, a newly developing, high growth tourist district in Sanya City. The rapid growth of the Haitang
Bay district is mainly attributable to the commitment made by the China Central Government in late 2009 to building
Hainan province into an international tourism destination by 2020.
Since 2008, in order to add incremental value to our existing business, we have been actively pursuing our gas
connections and pipeline gas business in selected cities in Jiangxi, Hunan, Hubei and Guangdong provinces in mainland
China. These provinces represent potentially large, rapidly growing emerging-markets for Changfeng as a result of the
upcoming full operation of the eight sub-lines of the PetroChina’s Second West-East Gas Pipeline by mid-2012. Please
refer to the Expansion Project section in this MD&A for further discussion of these projects.
CNG Refueling Retail Station Segment
CNG Refueling Retail Station is a gas service center mainly for public transport vehicles like buses and taxis in Changsha
City, Hunan Province, China. Our first CNG refueling retail station was completed construction and commenced the
supply of gas in April 2010.
Changsha city is the capital of Hunan Province with a population of approximately 6.5 million, and it is an important
commercial and trade center in central-south China. In 2006, the Changsha municipal government began to encourage
taxicab and public bus vehicles to be dual-fuel natural gas vehicles (gasoline and natural gas) in order to alleviate a
serious air pollution problem.

Nature of Operations
Pipeline Gas Distribution (Gas Connections and Pipeline Gas Business)
Concession operating rights
China’s natural gas distribution to end users has been operated mainly by local distribution companies (“downstream gas
distributors”) that are awarded exclusive concession rights by local governments to design, construct, own and operate
natural gas pipelines which distribute natural gas in a specified geographic area. These downstream gas distributors also
perform services such as billing, safety inspection, and pipeline connection for new customers and pipeline facilities
maintenance. Please refer to the Overview in this MD&A for the list of our concession rights.
Entities subject to rate regulation:
We operate in an environment subject to certain regulations. The pricing mechanism is designed and implemented by the
National Development and Reform Commission (“NDRC”), the top policymaker, in China. For the downstream gas
distributors, the gas purchasing price is set by the NDRC and adjusted by each provincial Development and Reform
Commission. And the sales price to the end users is determined by the gas companies and the local pricing authorities
subject to the approval by the provincial pricing authorities. The pricing mechanism is designed to permit a fair and
reasonable return on investment to encourage the gas companies to engage in natural gas business and eventually increase
the natural gas consumption.
Natural gas quota
A gas quota is the amount of volume of natural gas a region or a local gas distributor can purchase from one of the three
state-owned gas suppliers in China: (i) PetroChina, a subsidiary of the China National Petroleum Corp. (“CNPC”),
China’s largest state-owned onshore natural gas supplier, who own and operate more than 80% of the pipeline natural gas
trunk lines in China; (ii) China National Offshore Oil Corp.(“CNOOC”), the largest offshore natural gas supplier in China;
and (iii) China Petroleum & Chemical Corp.(“Sinopec”), the second largest onshore natural gas supplier. The allocation
of gas quotas by the stated-owned gas suppliers differs by province. In general, there are two ways for the state-owned gas
suppliers to coordinate and allocate their gas sources: (a) allocate to the provincial level energy authority, and then the
energy authority divides the gas to each cities, regions or projects within its jurisdiction; and/or (b) allocate to each gas
operators directly through its authorized subsidiaries. The amount will be determined based on a series of factors, such as
population, general industrial development level, industrial sector and so on, and some social effect consideration.
Without the gas quota, a gas distribution operator would normally face a high operating risk and challenge of gas shortage
or higher purchase pricing because it would need to purchase gas from third party gas suppliers at higher prices.
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In Sanya City, we have a 24 million m3/year gas quota with CNOOC to purchase gas at approximately RMB 0.6/m3. The
quota expires at the end of 2015. In Pingxiang City, from 2012 to 2015, we have an annual quota volume of gas 15
million m3 in 2012, 35 million m3 in 2013, and 50 million m3 in 2014 and 2015, respectively.
In addition, we have secured other gas in the form of LNG/CNG via long term gas contracts in order to keep pace with
the increasing demand for gas. Please refer to the Contractual Obligations and Commitments in this MD&A for the list of
our long term natural gas contracts.
Construction and operation of pipeline network
The design and construction of natural gas pipeline networks for a given region is the responsibility of a downstream gas
distributor that is granted the exclusive concession operating right. Upon completion of the natural gas pipeline network,
the downstream distributor also typically retains ownership of the network and continues to maintain its operations to
ensure that natural gas can be delivered to customers without interruption. The distribution utility is also responsible for
sales, marketing and billing and maintenance of the pipeline and associated facilities. One-time initial connection fees are
usually charged to customers for their connection to our pipeline networks.

Vision and Strategy
Vision
Changfeng is committed to contributing to a cleaner China and improving the quality of life by providing a clean and safe
energy to our customers.
Our vision is to become one of the predominant natural gas service providers in Southern China by the year 2015.
History
Changfeng was founded in 1995 as a privately-owned natural gas utility serving commercial, industrial and residential
customers in Sanya City, Hainan Province. In 2007, 30-year exclusive concession rights were granted to Changfeng by
the local government to operate pipeline construction and gas distribution business in this city.
Ever since 2003, we have been building an extensive pipeline network in the main district of Sanya city. In December
2010, we completed extension of a 26.6 km of high-to-medium pressure pipeline linking Sanya City with Haitang Bay
region together with 21.2 km of low pressure pipeline, and commenced the supply of gas to this newly developed district
of Sanya city. Please refer to the Expansion Project in this MD&A for more discussion.
Growth Strategy
Achieving our goal means that we must expand our geographic presence beyond our existing operation in Sanya city,
Hainan Island, since there are extremely strong fundamentals for natural gas infrastructure growth in mainland China, as
large volumes of new gas are brought to new markets by new, national pipelines such as the PetroChina’s Second WestEast Pipeline. The following initiatives are central to our growth strategy:
 Maximize operating cash flow from our Pipeline Gas Distribution in Sanya through securing additional gas quotas
with more competitive purchase pricing;
 Develop existing projects under development into operations; and
 Focus on commercial-intensive, underdeveloped markets in medium and small cities in mainland China.
It is critical for us to successfully execute our growth strategies in order to achieve our vision. Below and throughout this
MD&A, we will discuss the execution of our business strategy for 2011 and beyond.
Maximize operating cash flow from our Pipeline Gas Distribution in Sanya through securing additional gas quotas
with more competitive purchase pricing
Firstly, our strategy is to continue to grow our business in the Sanya Region where we have strong secular growth trends
in tourism and real estate development. However, ever since 2010, demand for natural gas in this region has greatly
exceeded our annual 24 million m3 quota gas (“Quota Gas”) due to both urban expansion and rapid development of
coastal tourism. Our Quota Gas in Sanya Region, which was originally established in 2006 and is set to expire in 2015, at
a relatively fixed purchase price, cannot fully meet the market demand. As a result, we periodically purchase additional
volumes of gas in the form of CNG or LNG (“Other Gas”) to fill our pipelines and most importantly, to avoid gas
shortages in peak seasons. All of the Other Gas purchased is at current market based pricing. However, because of the
overall gas shortage in China, the average price for additional volumes of Other Gas is much higher than our Quota Gas’
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price, sometimes even close to or higher than our selling price. As a result, no profits can be generated from the additional
volume of sales of Other Gas.
We anticipate that the gas shortage situation in Sanya Region will not be significantly mitigated until 2015 when CNOOC
completes construction and commences operation of its LNG receiver terminal that is currently under construction in
Hainan Island. As a result, in the short term until 2015, our strategy is to maximize the profits and operating cash flows
from our Sanya’s operation by limiting the volume of natural gas sold to our Quota Gas and Other Gas that can be
purchased at reasonable cost. This strategy will enable our existing operation in Sanya Regioin to provide continued solid
free operating cash flows which in part, are funding our strategic business development and expansion endeavors that are
currently underway in mainland China.
At the same time, we are also working closely with the municipal government to find solutions to mitigate the negative
effects of the gas shortage and higher gas pricing for Other Gas. Possible measures to address the problem include a sales
prices increase to commercial customers, a government subsidy, additional temporary gas quota, and if necessary,
temporary suspension of natural gas supplies to certain industrial customers.
On February 22, 2012, as one of the possible measures to address the problem discussed above, we launched a Gas &
Electricity Exchange Program (the "Program"). The Program will ultimately secure an additional annual supply of natural
gas totaling approximately 5 million m3 until 2015. In exchange for this gas supply, we will build infrastructure to link
certain of the supplier’s operations to the provincial power grid. The total anticipated capital expenditure related to the
Program is $1,417,232 (approximately RMB 8,777,000). This additional gas supply is expected to be available to
Changfeng by the third quarter of 2012, once $1,095,285 (approximately RMB 6,777,759) of the first phase of
construction work is completed.
Develop existing projects under development into operations
As mentioned earlier in this MD&A, we have four projects that are at various stages of development along the
PetroChina’s Second West-East Pipeline. Over the next few years, our first priority is to successfully develop these
projects into commercial operations. However, as new underdeveloped emerging markets, successfully developing these
projects into commercial operations will depend on a number of timing factors which include but not limited to,
regulatory approvals, gas quota, site preparations and proper sources of finance, but in the longer term we are confident
that we have the abilities and resources to bring all of these high-growth potential projects into operations which we
anticipate will create long-term recurring revenues to Changfeng.
Focus on commercial-intensive, underdeveloped markets in medium and small cities in mainland China
Finally, we will continue to leverage our track record, public listing and social networks to explore and develop gas
distribution business opportunities in the emerging markets in mainland China, especially along the PetroChina’s Second
West-East Pipeline. As a major national project of the China's 11th Five-Year Plan, Construction of the Second West–
East Gas Pipeline started on 22 February 2008. The trunk pipeline of the PetroChina’s Second West-East Gas Pipeline
was completed construction and commenced the supply of gas in June 2011, and is to bring 30 billion m3 annually of new
gas to China over the next 30 years. As a result, there is a significant need for natural gas distribution utilities to provide
a distribution solution to take new gas from national pipelines and deliver it to end users.
Our focus continues to be on commercial-intensive, underdeveloped markets in medium and small cities in these regions.
We believe that this focused growth strategy enables us rapidly to grow our business, but at the same time, to minimize
our capital expenditure requirements by limiting the potential size and length of gas pipelines through directly connecting
the vast natural gas users such as industrial companies and gas-fired plants to the existing and/or planned national or
provincial gas pipelines.
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Selected Annual Financial Information
In thousands of Canadian dollars
except percentages and per share amounts

Revenue
Gross profit (1)
% of revenue
General and administrative
% of revenue
Travel and business development
% of revenue
Total expenses
% of revenue
Interest on long term debt
% of revenue
Interest income
% of revenue
Share of loss of investment in
associate
Income tax
% of revenue
Net income
% of revenue
EBITDA (2)
% of revenue
Non-controlling interest
Basic and diluted EPS
Weighted average number of
common shares outstanding
Basic and diluted EPS

2011

2010

Change

%

28,176
11,708
41.6%
5,062
18.0%
2,689
9.5%
7,751
27.5%
1,403
5.0%
5.2
0.0%

22,135
10,329
46.7%
4,606
20.8%
3,171
14.3%
7,778
35.1%
642
2.9%
4.9
0.0%

6,040
1,380
-5.1%
456
-2.8%
-482
-4.8%
-26
-7.6%
761
2.1%
0
0.0%

27.3%
13.4%
-10.9%
9.9%
-13.5%
-15.2%
-33.6%
-0.3%
-21.7%
118.5%
72.4%
-

-19.1

0.0

-19

-

1,170
4.2%
1,371
4.9%
5,900
20.9%
-13.8
0.021

958
4.3%
956
4.3%
4,018
18.2%
-9.8
0.015

212
-0.2%
415
0.5%
1,882
2.8%
-4
0.006

22.1%
-2.3%
43.4%
14.0%
46.8%
15.4%
40.0%

66,025

66,025

Note: (1) Ever since 2010, the gas demand in the Sanya Region has exceeded our annual 24 million m3 quota
(the “Gas Quota”), which provides gas at a cost of approximately 0.6 RMB per m3 versus a regulated selling
price of RMB 3.8 per m3 to commercial and industrial customers and RMB 2.6 per m3 to residential customers,
we have been forced to purchase additional gas at significantly higher market-based prices in the form of
Liquefied Natural Gas (“LNG”) and/or CNG (collectively the “Other Gas”). As a result, our gross profit
fluctuates with (i) the cost of gas and the mix of gas sold in the period as between (high margin) Gas Quota and
(low margin) Other Gas, and (ii) the timing of obtaining large value pipeline gas connection contracts and
changes in the gas selling price.
Note: (2) EBITDA is identified and defined under the section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.
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Results of Operations
Revenue
Revenue for fiscal 2011 was $28.1 million, an increase of $6 million, or 27.3%, from $22.1 million in 2010. This
significant increase reflects a combination of continued higher gas volume growth and increased connection fees from
Sanya Region as more customers were connected, and increased sales from our first CNG refueling retail station, as well
as higher selling prices.
A summary of the customers connected, volume of gas sold in Sanya Region, and volume of gas sold by the CNG
refueling retail station during 2011 as compared to 2010 is presented below:
1. Sanya’s operation:
Residential customers
Customers connected during the year
Total customers at the end of year
Gas volume sold (m3) during the year

2011
15,166
82,947
5,050,800

2010
17,326
67,781
4,340,000

% Change
-12%
22%
16%

Commercial customers
Customers connected during the year
Total customers at the end of year
Gas volume sold (m3) during the year

78
598
26,566,100

80
520
24,780,000

-3%
14%
7%

Sub-total Gas volume sold (m3) during the year
2. Changsha’s CNG refueling retail station
Gas volume sold (m3) during the year

31,616,900

29,120,000

9%

4,952,744

1,755,916

182%

Total Gas volume sold (m3) during the year

36,569,644

30,875,916

18%

Total revenue from our first CNG refueling retail station for 2011 was $2.5 million, an increase of $1.6 million, or 178%,
from $0.9 million for same period of 2010. The significant increase was attributable to the combined effect of the
increased gas volume sold (4,952,744 m3 in 2011 compared to 1,755,916 m3 sold in the same period of 2010) and higher
average selling prices. This station was completed construction and commenced initial operation in April 2010 with full
commercial operation beginning in June 2010.
Further increases in revenue for 2011 versus 2010 are attributable to the continued growth in new gas sales and
connection fees in Sanay Region. For the fiscal year of 2011, gas connection fees increased by $2.1 million or 25.6% to
$10.3 million, from $8.2 million in the same period of 2010. The year-to-year increase was mainly attributable to
continued connections from the existing Sanay city, and new and higher-value connections from Haitang Bay district. In
2011, the pace of real estate development in the Sanya Region continued to slow due to Chinese government policy to
tighten credit to address the inflation rate. As a result, we experienced a reduction in new customers connected for
residential customers and commercial customer for 2011 versus the same period of 2010 by 12% and 3%, respectively.
Residential connection fees were accordingly dropped as connection fees are relatively fixed per customer connected,
partially offsetting the drop in residential connection revenue was increased connections of smaller restaurants in the
Sanya Region, which are classified as residential connections.
We began to recognize connection and gas sales revenue in Haitang Bay in late 2010. Gas connection fees recorded from
Haitang Bay district for 2011 were $2.0 million, an increase of $1.3 million, or 186%, from $0.7 million for same period
of 2010.
Natural gas retail price
Natural gas retail prices in China were increased on July 1, 2010 as a response to gas wholesale price increases in June
2010 by the National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC), China's top economic policy planning agency. As
a result, a natural gas retail price adjustment by local price authorities in individual provinces was made in Sanya City,
Hainan province and Changsha City, Hunan province. Effective July 1, 2010, gas retail prices increased 8% to RMB 2.60
per cubic meter for residential customers; increased 22% to RMB 3.80 per cubic meter to commercial customers in Sanya
City, Hainan Province; and increased 14% to RMB 3.75 per cubic meter at CNG refueling retail stations, in Changsha
City, Hunan province.
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We expect that natural gas retail prices in China may increase in the future because of the higher expected costs for China
to purchase liquefied natural gas and piped gas oversea to meet growing demand.
Foreign exchange rates
Changfeng reports in Canadian dollars but earns all of our revenues and incurs most of our expenses in Chinese RMB.
Accordingly, any fluctuation in the exchange rate between these two currencies will affect our reported financial
information. The impact of the changes in foreign exchange rates has been recognized as other comprehensive income,
and not in net income. Excluding foreign exchange effect, revenues for fiscal 2011 were RMB184 million, an increase of
RMB39 million (27%), from RMB145 million in 2010.
The exchange rate between Chinese RMB and the Canadian dollar is summarized below.
One Canadian dollar to Chinese RMB

2011

2010

% change

Average rate for the year

6.53

6.63

-1.5%

Spot rate at December 31

6.19

6.57

-5.8%

Gross profits
Gross profits for fiscal 2011 were $11.7 million, an increase of $1.4 million, or 13.6%, from $10.3 million in 2010. Gross
profits as a percentage of sales for 2011 decreased by 5.1% to 41.6% compared to 46.7% for 2010. The decrease in gross
margin percentage is mainly due to a relatively higher procurement price for purchases of additional Other Gas in Sanya
Region caused by growing demand in excess of our annual 24 million m3 quota. The decrease is also due to relatively
lower gross margins on the CNG sales from the retail station.
Gross margin on gas sales from our CNG refueling retail station is normally much lower than the gross margin on
pipelined gas sales. Gross margin for CNG sales was 14% in 2011 compared to negative 5% in the same period of 2010.
The significant increase was mainly attributable to higher gas volume and gas prices as discussed earlier in this MD&A,
as well as reduced LNG/CNG transportation cost. In 2011, in order reduce our operating cost, we bought one CNG/LNG
truck which was used to replace one of our previous leased trucks.
Further decrease in gross margin percentage is attributable to increased amortization expense. Amortization for fiscal
2011 was $1.9 million, an increase of $0.7 million, or 58.3%, from $1.2 million in 2010 as a result of an additional
depreciation expenses from the pipeline assets and associated facilities in Haitan Bay district that were put into operations
in late 2010.
Operating expenses
General and administrative expenses for fiscal 2011 were $5.1 million, an increase of $0.5 million, or 9.9%, from $4.6
million in 2010. General and administrative expenses as a percentage of sales for 2011 was 18.0%, compared to 20.8%
in 2010, representing a decrease of 2.8% as a result of increases in sales.
Travel and business development expenses for fiscal 2011 were $2.7 million, a decrease of $0.5 million, or 15.6%,
from $3.2 million in 2010. Travel and business development expenses as a percentage of sales for 2011 decreased to
9.5% from 14.3% in 2010 as a result of increases in revenue. These expenses normally fluctuate with our travel and
business development activities in mainland China as the Company seeks to develop new projects in close proximity to
the new national pipelines. The majority of travel and business development expenses does not relate to the Company’s
business in Sanya City or the CNG retail station but instead relate to projects under consideration or development in
mainland China.
Interest on long term debt for fiscal year 2011 and 2010 was $1.4 million and $0.6 million, respectively, an increase of
$0.8 million as a result of drawls from the new line of credit. In addition, the Company had nil in capitalized interest in
2011 versus $0.6 million in 2010.
EBITDA for fiscal 2011 was $5.9 million, an increase of $1.9 million, or 47.5%, from $4.0 million for 2010 as a result of
sales increases. EBITDA as a as a percentage of sales for 2011 was 20.9%, compared to 18.2% in 2010, representing an
increase of 2.7% as a result of increases in revenue, partially offset by lower gross margin and increased business
development expenses.
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Expansion Projects
We have following projects under development as part of our growth strategy.
Haitang Bay Pipelined Gas Project, Sanya City, Hainan province
We are expanding our existing pipeline networks in Sanya city to Haitang Bay as the geographic boundaries of Sanya
City expands and with it our exclusive concession rights.
Haitang Bay is one of the five major bays in Sanya City, Hainan province. It is a flagship project being promoted by the
Hainan provincial government to build Hainan Island into an international tourism destination by 2020. The size of
Haitang Bay development area is estimated at 98.7 square km and includes approximately 24 km of beachfront.
In December 2010, we completed an extension of a 26.6 km of high-to-medium pressure pipeline linking Sanya City with
Haitang Bay district together with 21.2 km of low pressure pipeline and associated facilities, and began to supply gas for
this district.
The pace of development in Haitang Bay district has been slowing down since 2010 due to the tightening of credit by the
Central Government to address growing inflation in China, but in the longer term we are confident that the Haitang Bay
would represent a high-growth potential area for our operation in Sanya Region as more luxury hotels are to be
constructed and connected to our pipeline networks.
CNG Refueling Retail Stations Project, Changsha City, Hunan province
In 2006, the Changsha municipal government started to encourage new taxicab and public bus vehicles to be dual-fuel
natural gas vehicles. The local government proposed that a total of approximately 25 CNG refueling stations will be
constructed in Changsha region by 2015, of which 7 stations can be owned and operated by Changfeng.
We entered the CNG refueling retail station market in Changsha City, Hunan province in late 2008, and our first CNG
refueling retail station was completed construction and commenced supplying gas in April 2010. In September 2010, we
entered into a land lease agreement for construction of the second CNG refueling retail station.
We had two long-term CNG purchase agreements that were originally signed in 2008 and 2009 in connection with our
acquisition of Hunan CNPC NEI to secure the long-term supply of CNG up to 11,000,000 m3 and 3,650,000 m3 per year,
respectively; however, due mainly to a gas shortage in Changsha City, caused by surging demand for and limited sources
of gas supply, we has not been able to purchase any CNG pursuant to its long-term CNG purchase contracts. On May 30,
2011, we entered into a supplementary agreement (the “Supplementary Gas Agreement”) with a gas supplier with which
it had previously signed the two agreements described above. Pursuant to the Supplementary Gas Agreement, the gas
supplier agreed to supply CNG to Changfeng, once it is available. At that time, Changfeng and the gas supplier agree to
enter into a one-year gas supply agreement, renewable annually, with annual gas volume not less than previous
contractual amounts.
CNG refueling stations represent our first growth project in mainland China. However, further expansion and
development of CNG refueling retail stations in Changsha beyond the first station is delayed pending for secured gas
source at a price that will provide for a reasonable margin. In addition, other issues such as pricing of the lands to be
either leased or purchased for construction of the CNG refueling stations, market size/development and capital budgeting
are expected to play a role in the evolution of our CNG station initiative in Changsha City.
CNG and Pipelined Gas Project, Xiangdong district, Pingxiang City, Jiangxi province
Pingxiang city is located in the west of Jiangxi Province. It is approximately 50 km from Changsha City. It is considered
the industrial ceramic capital of China.
Ceramic companies need a huge amount of heat energy for their kilns. Currently, coal and coal methane gas, a by-product
that is produced by two local metallurgy manufacturers and water gas, are the main sources of energy for ceramic
manufacturing companies in this region. The reliance on coal and coal methane gas not only contribute to serious air
pollution problems, but also affects the quality and value of ceramics due to the low temperature and unstable supply of
coal methane gas. As a result, in early 2006, the Xiangdong District government initiated construction of the Pingxiang
Industrial Ceramic Production Park (the “Park”) in order to integrate the ceramic industry in the area and create
efficiencies such as logistics and R&D, as well as to alleviate environmental problems, because the Government would
like to encourage ceramic companies in the Park to use natural gas as the main heat source when the natural gas from the
Second West-East Gas Pipeline is available to this region. In addition, as a superior heat source, the properties of the
natural gas also allow ceramic companies to produce higher value, more differentiated products which are less like
commodities.
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The Park is approximately 28 square km with space for 72 companies. Currently, there are more than 24 companies
operating in the Park with more expected to move in.
We have been in discussion with several potential gas customers in the Park, many of which have provided serious
expressions of interest in purchasing gas when available. We believe that many ceramic manufacturing companies in the
Park will convert/use natural gas as their heating energy when we commence the supply gas to this region.
Currently, this project is at its construction stage. We anticipate that further increases in our revenue in 2012 and beyond
would be possible from this project given the strong gas demand from the ceramic companies in the Park:
Project key milestones
o

March, 2012 – received regulatory approval from the Jiangxi Provincial Development and Reform Commission
of China. The approval finally secured our exclusive concession rights (2010-2060) to operate the natural gas
distribution business in the existing administrative region of Xiangdong district and the Park.

o

November, 2011 – received gas quota approval from the Jiangxi Provincial Energy Bureau. Pursuant to the
approval, from 2012 to 2015, the annual quota volume of natural gas will be 15 million m3 in 2012, 35 million
m3 in 2013 and up to 50 million m3 in 2014 and 2015, respectively. This natural gas quota is allocated from the
Province's Twelfth Five-Year Plan's gas quota that was assigned from, and will be supplied from the
PetroChina’s Second West-East Pipeline. At the same time, we are negotiating with PetroChina's subsidiary in
Jiangxi province to purchase CNG from its transmission substation in Pingxiang City as an alternative gas source
before the pipelined gas is available for this region and/or also as a supplementary gas source in the future.

o

November, 2011– commenced construction of pipelines and associated facilities in this region. The construction
consists of approximately 10 km of mid-pressure pipeline in the Xiangdong downtown area, a 10 km midpressure pipeline in the Park, and a gate station with CNG storage and gasification facilities to link the Xiangtan
sub-line of the Second West-East Pipeline. The construction work involves two phases in order to coincide with
both the project financing and commencement of the construction of a 25 km high-pressure pipeline. This 25 km
high-pressure pipeline, connecting our gate station in Xiangdong District with Xiangtan sub-line of the Second
West-East Pipeline, will be built and operated by Jiangxi Provincial Natural Gas Investment Co., Ltd. a stateowned company.
The total anticipated capital expenditures are approximately RMB34 million ($5.4 million), of which
approximately RMB 6 million ($1 million) for the first phase of construction and will be funded from our
existing cash on hand, and the remaining capital requirement will be funded through project loan financing with
local banks. Upon completion of the first phase of construction by the fourth quarter of 2012, we will be able to
gradually supply gas for this region through our CNG facilities built even before the pipelined gas arrives.

o

July 2010 – entered into an agreement with the Pingxiang Ceramic Industry Park Management Committee to
purchase 20 mu (approximately 1.33 hectare) of land. This land will be used for construction of a gas gate
station.

o

May 2010 – established an 80%-owned company Pingxiang Changfeng Natural Gas Co. Ltd. ("Pingxiang CF")
to develop this project.

CNG and Pipelined Gas Project, Xiangtan city, Hunan province
Xiangtan City has a population of approximately 2.7 million and is the hometown of Chairman Mao ZeDong, the founder,
architect and ruler of the People’s Republic of China from 1949-1977. It is about 120 km from Changsha City, the capital
of Hunan Province. Xiangtan City is connected to the Second West-East Pipeline’s major line via the Xiangtan sub-line.
On July 19, 2011, we established a 51%-owned company Xiangtan Changfeng Xiangtan Natural Gas Co., Ltd.
("Xiangtan CF"), together with a company owned by the local municipality, Xiangtan Economic Construction and
Development Investment Co. Ltd. and a local investment company, to jointly develop pipelined gas business, CNG
(Compressed Natural Gas) and LNG (Liquefied Natural Gas) refueling stations in designated regions of Xiangtan City.
Xiangtan CF has a registered capital of $1.6 million (RMB 10 million).
Currently, we are working with the municipal government to secure exclusive concession rights. We are also working to
secure a natural gas supply agreement from the PetroChina's Hunan subsidiary.
Investment in Associate
In October 2011, Changfeng, together with Xiangtan Economic and a Zhuhai Hailian Investment Co., Ltd., a private
investment company, established Shin-Ko Energy with a total registered capital of $1,628,000 (RMB 10,000,000), of
which the Company owns 50%. The objective of Shin-Ko Energy is to develop and invest in urban natural gas utilization,
including building and operating an LNG storage facility (the “LNG Plant”) in Xiangtan City, Hunan Province, China. As
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of December 31, 2011, Changfeng contributed our share of registered capital of $323,200 (RMB 2,000,000), and the
remaining balance of $484,800 (RMB 3,000,000) is required to be contributed by October 24, 2013.
We have determined that Changfeng is in a position of significant influence and have accounted the investment in ShinKo Energy as an equity investee. Changfeng’s share of the loss for the year was $19,118.
Summary financial information, not adjusted for percentage ownership, is as follows:
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Equity

$

294,484
1,292,800
(9,995)
–
$ 1,577,289

Revenue
Expenses
Loss

$
$

–

(38,236)
(38,236)

Currently, Shin-Ko Energy is working for other regulatory requirements such as the project design, project safety
assessment and environmental impact assessment, all of which are required to be submitted prior to the commencement
of construction. Shin-Ko Energy is also working with the local government to secure both the location and purchase price
of the land for the Project.
Changfeng believes that, once completion of construction and commencing operation of this LNG Plant, it will also be
able to provide an important supplementary gas source in the form of LNG to support our operations located in other
cities.
Pending Business Acquisitions or Joint Ventures
In order to seize the rapid growing market of natural gas business in China, we have the following proposed business
acquisitions or joint venture, however, moving forward with these potential acquisitions or joint venture depend upon,
among other factors, acquisition of a secure, long term gas contract satisfactory to Changfeng that will come from gas
supplied by the Second West-East Pipeline.
1.

In 2010, we paid a good faith deposit to the existing shareholder of Hunan CNPC, Guangda Gas Co., Ltd. ("Guangda
Gas"), a company that Changfeng is considering for acquisition. Guangda Gas owns a CNG primary filling station in
Changsha City. The deposit is refundable if Changfeng is not satisfied with its due diligence procedures or a
reasonable purchase price cannot be negotiated.

2.

In 2010, we paid a good faith deposit to the existing shareholders of Jiangxi Pingxiang Huaneng Energy Co. Ltd.
("Pingxiang Huaneng"), a company that Changfeng is considering for acquisition. Pingxiang Huaneng is a natural
gas distributor in the Xiangdong district, Pingxiang City, Jiangxi Province. The deposit is refundable if Changfeng is
not satisfied with its due diligence procedures or a reasonable purchase price cannot be negotiated.

Selected Quarterly Results
The following sets out the Company’s consolidated quarterly results for the most recently completed quarters:
In thousands of Canadian dollars, except per share amounts:
Quarterly data ($000’s)

2011

2010

IFRS

IFRS

IFRS

IFRS

IFRS

IFRS

IFRS

Q4

Q3

Q2

Q1

Q4

Q3

Q2

Q1

6.22

6.54

6.71

6.68

6.57

6.51

6.64

6.56

Revenue

8,929

5,936

6,776

6,534

7,157

5,393

4,495

5,089

Gross profit

4,285

2,059

1,830

3,534

3,341

2,301

1,793

2,894

Interest

393

374

340

295

153

166

185

138

Net income (loss)

888

(326)

(300)

1,110

583

283

(345)

435

(0.005)

(0.005)

0.017

0.009

0.005

(0.005)

0.007

except per share amounts
Foreign exchange rate RMB

Net income (loss) per share

0.013

IFRS
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Financial Condition and Liquidity
December 31, 2011

December 31, 2010

5,062

2,670

(10,671)

(5,994)

2,351

655

Plant and equipment

43,364

37,318

Total assets

55,618

44,756

Long term liabilities

22,113

21,487

Shareholders' equity

13,556

11,282

Key Financial Data and Comparative Figures
($000's)
Cash and cash equivalents
Working capital (deficit)
Adjusted working capital (deficit) (1)

Notes: (1) These financial measures are identified and defined under the section “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”.

Cash and cash equivalents increased by $2.4 million to $5.1 million at December 31, 2011 from $$2.7 million at
December 31, 2010, primarily resulting from cash provided during 2011 by operating activities of $4.2 million and $4.8
million (RMB 30.0 million) cash drawn from our line of credit, offset by cash used during 2011 for capital expenditure of
$6.0 million and $1.0 million of principal payment on our bank term loans.
Adjusted Working Capital
Our adjusted working capital (see “Non-GAAP Financial Measures”) was $2.4 million at December 31, 2011. Adjusted
working capital excludes $6.1 million of deferred revenue in connection with gas connection fees, $2.1 million of interest
payable to Sanya State Assets Management Corporation (a state owned company) for years ending in 2007 (which is due
on demand, however, is not expected to be repaid within the next 12 month period), $4.8 million of line of credit.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Overview
Our principal sources of short-term funding are our existing cash balances, operating cash flows and borrowing under our
renewable credit facility. Our principal source of long-term funding is our bank term loans that entered into in January
2010 and January 2008, respectively. See the “Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further details around
these bank term loans.
We believes that Changfeng does not expect to face any liquidity problems considering our ability to generate sustainable
cash in the short and long term to provide liquidity, maintain financial capacity and flexibility, as well as our ability to
raise additional debt capital to fund our working capital needs and new projects in mainland China.
We continuously review acquisition and investment opportunities in selected cities in mainland China as a result of the
new gas source from the PetroChina’s Second West-East Pipeline. We expect that the funding for any such acquisitions
could be funded from cash from operations, debt and/or equity financing.
2011 Credit Agreement
In connection with our 10-year long-term bank loan of $16.2 million (RMB 100 million) that was obtained from the Bank
of China in January 2010, on March 3, 2011, the Bank of China agreed to increase our loan facility by $4.8 million (RMB
30 million) in the form of a one-year line of credit (the "Credit Line"). The Credit Line is secured by the same collateral
as that for the long-term bank loan. As a result, the Bank of China has increased our total loan facility to $20.8 million
(RMB 130.0 million).
On March 10, 2011, $3.3 million (RMB 20.0 million) of the Credit Line was drawn, and the remaining balance of $1.6
million (RMB 10.0 million) was further drawn in June 2011. The interest rate on the Credit line is based on the variable
rate set by the People's Bank of China and is due in one year.
Cash Flow from Operations
Net cash provided by operations was $4.2 million in 2011 compared to $4.8 million in 2010. Net cash provided by
operations reflects cash generated from operations, net of changes in operating working capital.
Changes in operating working capital accounts generated $0.7 million in cash in fiscal 2011, compared to $3.5 million in
2010. Increased accounts receivable, accounts payable and increased deferred revenue generated cash in 2011 as a result
of substantial increases in sales volume and increases in gas retail prices. Starting from late 2010, Changfeng began
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supplying gas to hotels in Haitang Bay, Sanya City that were newly connected to our pipelines, resulting in gas and
connection-fee revenue.
Financing Activities
Cash flow provided by financing activities in 2011 was $3.8 million, compared to $4.9 million in 2010. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the 10-year long term bank loan of $15 million (RMB 100 million) that was obtained in January
2010, offset by the new line of credit of $4.8 million (RMB 30.0 million) drawn in 2011.
Capital Expenditures
Capital expenditures in property, plant and equipment totaled $5.0 million in 2011 compared to $10.0 million in 2010.
The significant decrease was mainly attributable to the reduced capital expenditures in 2011 after completion of the
extension of pipeline networks and associated facilities in Haitang Bay, as well as completion of construction of our first
CNG refueling retail station in 2010. Continued expenditures in 2011 and 2010 related primarily to the construction of
new pipeline and associated facilities.
In connection with establishment of the 50%-owned joint venture of Xiangtan Shin-Ko Energy Co., Ltd in 2011, the first
phase contribution to our share of registered capital in an amount of $0.3 million was contributed.
We expect to finance the majority of the upcoming construction of projects under development in mainland China
through project debt financing, assuming such financing remains available on favorable terms, as well as solid operating
cash flow from our existing operations.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments
Estimated losses from contingencies are accrued by a charge to income when information available prior to the issuance
of the financial statements indicates that it is likely that a future event will confirm that an asset has been impaired or a
liability incurred at the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated.
Pipeline Construction and Equipment:
The Company has signed contracts with several equipment suppliers and construction supervisors for a total amount of
$3,470,049 (RMB 21,473,076) (2010 - $8,649,910 (RMB 57,322,135)), of which $2,139,222 (RMB13,237,762 has been
paid as at December 31, 2011.
Natural Gas Purchase Commitments:
The following tables summarize our contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2011 in connection
with our natural gas purchase contracts:
Year
2006-2015

Gas source supplier
Ya13-1 Gas Well (CNOOC)

2010-2015

Shennan LNG

2010-2014

Xinxing CNG

2015 and beyond
2008-2027

Yangpu LNG Receiving
terminal (CNOOC)
Petro-China’s subsidiary in
Changsha city (a)

Gas volume quota
24 million m3 a year
LNG unlimited supply is variable
within Changfeng’s forecast demand
CNG unlimited supply is variable
within Changfeng’s forecast demand
Letter of intent for up to 150 million
m3 a year
14.6 million m3 a year

Location
Sanya city
Sanya city
Sanya city
Sanya city
Changsha City

Note (a): As of December 31, 2011, we had not been able to purchase any CNG pursuant to our long term CNG gas
purchase contract.

See the “Note to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further details around these contracts.
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Lease Commitment:
On September 8, 2008, Changfeng signed a land lease agreement for 3,000 m2 of land for the construction of a CNG
refueling retail station in Changsha City, Hunan Province. The lease term is for 20 years until October 2028.
On September 28, 2010, Changfeng signed a land lease agreement for the construction of our second CNG refueling
station in Changsha City. The lease term is for 21 years, ending September 27, 2032. A deposit of $16,000 (RMB
100,000) and the first year's rent of $54,000 (RMB 336,000) is required to be paid upon commencement of construction.
If the Company decides to terminate this agreement, a termination payment of $161,000 (RMB 1,000,000) will be
payable. As at December 31, 2011, a deposit of $16,000 (RMB 100,000) was paid.
The minimum lease payments in successive years are as follows:
RMB
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereafter

654,250
829,500
829,500
829,500
863,100
13,446,916
17,452,766

Cdn. $
$

105,727
134,047
134,047
134,047
139,477
2,173,022
$ 2,820,367

Other obligations and commitments are incurred in the normal course of business operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As a policy, Changfeng does not enter into off-balance sheet arrangements with special purpose entities in the normal
course of its business, nor does it have any unconsolidated affiliates.

Related Parties Transactions
1.

As at December 31, 2011, a corporation, which is controlled by a significant shareholder who is also an officer and
director of the Company, owed the Company a total of $78,076 (U.S. $78,928) as at December 31, 2011 (December
31, 2010 - $78,501 (U.S. $78,928); January 1, 2010 - $80,740 (U.S. $76,822)) for various expenditures paid by the
Company on behalf of this corporation.

2.

As at December 31, 2011, the Company had an outstanding loan of $323,200 (RMB 2,000,000) (December 31, 2010
- $301,800 (RMB 2,000,000); January 1, 2010 - 304,400 (RMB 2,000,000) due from this minority shareholder of
Hunan CF CNPC, which used the funds to contribute the capital it owed to that subsidiary. The loan is unsecured and
non-interest bearing. The minority shareholder has waived its right to any future profit that it would otherwise be
allocated until the loan is repaid. The Company will begin recording this shareholder's profit allocation prospectively
at the time the loan has been repaid.

3.

During the third quarter of 2011, the Company made a short-term loan of $814,000 (RMB 5,000,000) (2010 - nil) to
Xiangtan Economic Construction and Development Investment Co., Ltd., a minority shareholder of Xiangtan CF.
The loan was secured and bore an annual interest rate of 15%. It was subsequently repaid on October 21, 2011.

4.

In 2007, a significant shareholder, who is also an officer and director of the Company advanced loans in the
aggregate amount of $6,464,000 (RMB 40,000,000) to the Company, through wholly owned corporations, in
accordance with a Subordination and Forbearance Agreement dated April 27, 2007, Consignment Loan Agreements
dated May 23, 2007 and June 26, 2007, and other ancillary documentation. These loans are unsecured, non-interest
bearing, subordinate to the claims of all other creditors, including unsecured creditors of the Company, and were due
on demand only after April 27, 2010.
On April 27, 2010, these loans were renewed for another three years with the same terms and conditions and are due
on demand only after April 27, 2013.

5.

As at December 31, 2011, the Company owed an officer and director of the Company $427,843 (December 31, 2010
- $320,879; January 1, 2010 - $200,510) for unpaid salary.
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6.

On November 22, 2010, the Company loaned $10,000 to an officer of the Company. This loan is unsecured, noninterest bearing and has no fixed terms of repayment. As at December 31, 2011, the full $10,000 was outstanding
and is included in trade and other receivables.

7.

During 2011 and 2010, key management personnel did not exercise share options granted under the Company's stock
option plan.

Outstanding Share Data
As at the date of this report, the Company has 66,025,000 common shares outstanding, 5,300,000 stock options
outstanding and 5,300,000 stock options outstanding and exercisable at a weighted average exercise price of $0.51 per
share. The Company has no warrants outstanding.

Risks and Uncertainties
The Company is exposed to a variety of risks in the normal course of operations that could significantly affect its
operating cash flow and profitability of operations and could cause its actual results to differ in material respects from our
anticipated results. These risks may include, but are not limited to, those listed below. The Company seeks to manage the
risks associated with its business operations; however, many of the factors affecting these risks are beyond the Company’s
control. The future effect of these risks and uncertainties cannot be quantified or predicted.
Country risks
Since substantially all of the business of the Company is operated in the China, the profitability, financial position and
prospects of the Company are subject to the consideration and risks of operating in China. These include risks associated
with the political and economic environment, foreign currency exchange and the legal system in China. Any changes in
the policies of the China government regarding the domestic economy (for example, changes affecting foreign exchange
rates, inflation, taxation and trade) may have a material effect on the overall economy.
The China government has been pursuing economic reforms since it first adopted its "open-door" policy in 1978. The
current reforms are unprecedented, producing effects that are unpredictable, and are subject to further refinement and
improvement. New political, economic and social developments and considerations may lead the China government to
make adjustments to these reform measures. Any change in governmental policies or any unfavourable change in the
political, economic or social conditions, the laws or regulations, or the rate or method of taxation in China may have a
material adverse effect on the business of the Company.
Many laws and regulations dealing with economic matters in general, and foreign investment in particular, have been
enacted in China. However, China still does not have a comprehensive system of laws, and enforcement of existing laws
may be uncertain and sporadic. In China, gas distribution companies invest in and operate the piped gas supply business
in urban areas under the supervision of a number of government ministries and departments, including the Ministry of
Commerce, the MCC, the Ministry of Labor and Social Security and the Ministry of Public Security. The Company must
comply with the relevant requirements of certain regulations, including the City Fuel Gas Administration Regulations, the
Tentative Regulations in relation to the supervision and Administration of the Safety of Petroleum and Natural Gas
Pipelines and the Regulations of the Safety of City fuel Gas Administration. In addition, the Company must comply with
the relevant requirements and policies of local authorities where the Company’s projects are situated. Rights or rights of
first refusal to provide piped gas are granted by local governments pursuant to policies of promoting environmental
protection and encouraging the use of natural gas and the construction of natural gas supply facilities. In addition, the
natural gas distribution business in China is highly regulated and pricing is controlled by China government. Any change
in such laws or regulations could have a material adverse effect on the business of the Company. There can be no
assurance that the above regulatory regime and policies (including the granting of rights or rights of first refusal to supply
piped gas) will not be changed. The Company’s operations and profitability may be materially adversely affected if
changes that occur are not favorable to the Company.
Changes in foreign exchange regulations
Since 1996, the PRC government has promulgated various foreign exchange rules, regulations and notices (the “Policies”)
to raise the convertibility of the Chinese renminbi (“renminbi”). According to the Policies, a foreign-invested enterprise
(“FIE”) must open a “current account” and a “capital account” at a bank authorized to trade foreign exchange. A FIE may
convert renminbi in the capital account into any foreign currency at any authorized bank with the prior approval of the
State Administration for Foreign Exchange (“SAFE”) . The income and expenditures of the Company are denominated in
renminbi. At present, renminbi cannot be freely converted into other currencies. According to the Polices, upon producing
the board resolution on the authorization of the distribution of profits or dividends or the commercial documents
evidencing foreign exchange transactions, the Company may purchase the foreign exchange required for the distribution
from a designated authorized bank. The Company cannot guarantee that the Policies will not be withdrawn or amended.
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The Company continues to have substantial requirements for foreign currency, including foreign currency denominated
loans and purchases of imported equipment and materials. Repayment of the principal and interest on loans denominated
in foreign currency shall be approved by SAFE in advance. Such approval requirements could affect the Company’s
ability to obtain foreign exchange through debt financing or to obtain foreign exchange for capital expenditure. In
addition, according to the current foreign exchange control system, there can be no assurance that sufficient foreign
exchange can be obtained pursuant to a specific exchange rate in order to satisfy the Company’s needs. A shortage in the
foreign exchange may prevent the Company from obtaining sufficient currency to pay dividends or limit its ability to
satisfy its needs for foreign exchange.
Development projects and acquisitions
Changfeng continues to focus on growing its business segments through organic development projects or acquisitions.
The Company capitalizes costs incurred on certain of its projects during the development period when the project meets
specific criteria and is expected to proceed through to completion. The related capital costs of a project that does not
proceed through to completion are expensed at the time it is discontinued to the extent that these costs and underlying
materials cannot be utilized on another project. With respect to the Company’s acquisition of assets and operations, there
is a risk that certain business opportunities may not materialize as expected, resulting in asset impairment.
Substantial initial capital expenditure requirement
The nature of the Company’s operations require it to make a substantial initial investment in the construction of gas
pipeline infrastructure and the construction of CNG filling stations. The initial investment must be financed by internal
resources of the Company, bank loans and/or equity fund raising. There can be no assurance that external sources of
financing will be available to fund the Company’s capital expenditure program. The failure to obtain such financing may
hinder the Company’s ability to continue its existing investments or make new investments. In addition, there are risks
associated with the construction of new facilities, including risks that costs of construction may be greater than
anticipated, and that construction may be delayed due to factors beyond the control of the Company.
Grant of additional licenses
The business objectives of the Company include the expansion of its operations by applying for distribution and
construction permits for natural gas distribution rights in other cities in China. Applicants for such licenses are required to
meet extensive criteria, and to submit to a detailed examination of their infrastructure and management to a special team
appointed by the government body reviewing such applications. Notwithstanding the results of any such review,
distribution and construction permits are granted to applicants at the sole discretion of the government body reviewing
such applications, and such grants occur on an infrequent basis. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company
will be granted any distribution or construction permits for which it applies, which may in turn have a material adverse
effect upon the operations and growth strategy of the Company.
Price control
Any increase in gas usage charges exceeding the original approved charge requires the approval of the local state price
bureau. There is no assurance that any increases (except for an increase to offset the rise in the Company’s purchase price
of gas) will be approved. There is no assurance that the Company will be able to offset any increase in the purchase price
of gas with an increase in the sales price, such that its profitability may be adversely impacted.
Obligations to purchase gas
The Company currently has a letter of intent with CNOOC for the purchase of 150 million m3. The Company may, at its
option, enter into a take or pay agreement with CNOOC which will leave it financially committed to purchase gas without
any assurance that it will have sales to offset the purchase obligations. In addition, the agreement in principle between the
Company and CNOOC is conditional upon the completion of a plant to be constructed by CNOOC, which is in turn
subject to the receipt of various regulatory and governmental approvals. Failure by CNOOC to obtain the required
approvals and/or to complete construction of its proposed plant may have a material adverse effect on the Company.
Reliance on the suppliers of natural gas
At present, the Company purchases natural gas solely from Hainan Petrol pursuant to the supply Agreement. Currently,
the Company has a contract to purchase 24 million M3 gas a year from this supplier until December 31, 2015. There can
be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain natural gas from suppliers on terms similar to those of the supply
Agreement or without material interruption.
Limited insurance coverage
As natural gas is an inherently flammable and explosive substance, the Company has implemented strict safety measures
for the operation and maintenance of its facilities, however, the Company cannot guarantee that industry-related accidents
will not happen in the future. Significant operational hazards and natural disasters may cause interruptions in the
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Company’s operations that could have a material adverse impact on the financial condition of the Company. Although the
Company may maintain insurance to protect against certain risks in such amounts as it considers reasonable, its insurance
will not cover all the potential risks associated with its operations. The Company may also be unable to maintain
insurance to cover these risks at economically feasible premiums. Insurance coverage may not be available or may not be
adequate to cover any resulting liability. A successful claim made against the Company that is not covered by any of the
Company’s insurance policies or is in excess of its insurance coverage could have a material adverse effect on the
Company’s business and financial position.
Environmental risks and hazards
All phases of the Company’s operations are subject to environmental regulation in the jurisdictions in which it operates.
Environmental legislation is evolving in a manner that will require stricter standards and enforcement, increased fines and
penalties for non-compliance, more stringent environmental assessments of proposed projects, and a heightened degree of
responsibility for companies and their officers, directors and employees. There is no assurance that future changes in
environmental regulation, if any, will not adversely affect the Company’s operations. Environmental hazards may exist in
connection with the pipelines and distribution networks in which the Company holds interests that are unknown to the
Company at present. Government approvals and permits are currently, and may in the future, be required to be obtained
or renewed in connection with the Company’s operations. To the extent such approvals are required and not obtained or
existing permits are not renewed, the Company may be curtailed or prohibited from continuing its operations or from
proceeding with planned development of its proposed projects. Failure to comply with applicable laws, regulations and
permitting requirements may result in enforcement actions thereunder, including orders issued by regulatory or judicial
authorities causing operations to cease or be curtailed, and may include corrective measures requiring capital
expenditures, installation of additional equipment, or remedial actions. The Company may be required to compensate
those suffering loss or damage by reason of its activities and may have civil or criminal fines or penalties imposed for
violations of applicable laws or regulations. Amendments to current laws, regulations and permits governing current or
proposed operations and activities of the Company, or more stringent implementation thereof, could have a material
adverse impact on the Company and cause increases in development expenses, capital expenditures or production costs,
or require abandonment or delays in development of new projects. The Company is subject to the PRC environmental
protection laws and regulations which impose fines for violations of laws, regulations or decrees and provide for the
shutdown by the central, provisional or municipal governments of any facility not in compliance with governmental
orders requiring the cessation or cure of certain activities causing environmental damage. As natural gas is an
environmentally friendly form of fuel, the Company has not adopted any special environmental protection measures other
than the measures taken in the ordinary course of business by companies in the industry.
Key executives
The Company is dependent upon the services of key executives, management of the Company and a small number of
highly skilled and experienced executives and personnel. In addition, in the event that the Company expands its
operations to other jurisdictions in the Hainan and Guangdong Provinces as presently contemplated, it will be required to
hire additional skilled personnel. Due to the relatively small size of the Company, the loss of these persons or the
Company’s inability to attract and retain additional highly-skilled employees may adversely affect its business and future
operations.
Infrastructure
Natural gas distribution activities depend on adequate infrastructure. Reliable roads, bridges, power sources and water
supply are important determinants, which affect capital and operating costs. Unusual or infrequent weather phenomena,
sabotage, government or other interference in the maintenance or provision of such infrastructure could adversely affect
the Company’s operations, financial condition and results of operations. Any increase in the operating costs of the natural
gas distribution networks of the Company could have a material adverse effect on the Company.
Competition
The natural gas distribution industry is competitive in all of its segments. The Company faces strong competition from
other natural gas distribution companies in connection with the development of pipelines and acquisition of distribution
rights for natural gas. Many of these companies have greater financial resources, operational experience and technical
capabilities than the Company. As a result of this competition, the Company may be unable to maintain or acquire
distribution rights on terms it considers acceptable, or at all. The ability of the Company to acquire natural gas
distribution rights depends upon whether the Company is able to meet certain qualifications, the extent of competition,
and the discretion of the MCC and other applicable government bodies. Factors beyond the control of the Company may
affect its ability to obtain or retain distribution rights, or to secure exclusive concession rights with local municipalities, as
well as the marketability of natural gas distributed by the Company. As a result of these and other factors, competitors of
the Company may be granted shared or exclusive natural gas distribution rights in the target markets of the Company,
either of which may adversely affect the Company’s future growth plans and operations. Changfeng also competes for
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financing with other companies, many of whom have greater financial resources and/or more advanced operations. There
can be no assurance that additional capital or other types of financing will be available if needed or that, if available, the
terms of such financing will be favorable to the Company.
Substitute products
Coal, gas, liquid propane gas, liquid natural gas and electricity are the main substitutes for natural gas. Ultimate
consumers will consider factors such as cost, reliability, convenience and safety when choosing a fuel. Connection fees,
gas usage charges and heat content are the major factors affecting customers’ choice of fuel. Save for newly built
residential apartments that are required to be equipped with natural gas supply for cooking stoves, in most of the locations
in which the Company has established a presence, there is no assurance that existing fuel users will shift to use piped
natural gas. Continued growth of the Company is dependent upon the continued conversion by Chinese residential and
business consumers to natural gas as a fuel source.
Commodity prices
The price of the securities of the Company, the Company’s financial results and development activities may in the future
be significantly and adversely affected by declines in the price of natural gas and other commodities. The price of natural
gas and other commodities fluctuates widely and is affected by numerous factors beyond the Company’s control, such as
the sale or purchase of natural gas by various central banks and financial institutions, interest rates, exchange rates,
inflation or deflation, fluctuation in the value of the United States dollar and other foreign currencies, global and regional
supply and demand, the political and economic conditions of major oil-producing countries throughout the world, and the
cost of substitutes, inventory levels and carrying charges. Future serious price declines in the market value of natural gas
and other commodities could cause continued development of the Company’s projects to be impracticable. Depending on
the price of natural gas and other commodities, cash flow from operations may not be sufficient and the Company could
be forced to discontinue development of, may lose its interest in, or may be forced to sell, some of its interests.
Currency, interest rate and exchange fluctuations
The value of renminbi is subject to changes in the PRC government’s policies and depends to a large extent on domestic
and international economic and political developments, as well as supply and demand in the local market. Since 1994, the
official exchange rate for the conversion of renminbi to US dollars has generally been stable, and renminbi has
appreciated slightly against the US dollar. Any devaluation of renminbi may adversely affect the value of, and dividends
payable on, the securities of the Company in foreign currency terms since the Company receives its revenues in renminbi.
Results of operations and the financial condition of the Company may also be affected by changes in the value of certain
currencies other than renminbi in which the Company’s obligations are denominated. In particular, a devaluation of the
renminbi is likely to increase the portion of the Company’s cash flow required to satisfy its foreign currency-denominated
obligations.
Government regulation
The construction and distribution activities of the Company are subject to various laws governing development,
construction, distribution, taxes, labour standards and occupational health, toxic substances, land use, water use, and other
matters. Although the Company’s operations are currently carried out in accordance with all applicable rules and
regulations, no assurance can be given that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and
regulations will not be applied in a manner that could limit or curtail production or distribution activities. Amendments to
current laws and regulations governing natural gas distribution and related matters or more stringent implementation
thereof could have a substantial adverse impact on the Company.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
This MD&A contains certain financial measures that do not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS.
Therefore, these financial measures may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. Investors are
cautioned these measures should not be construed as alternative to net earnings or to cash provided by (used in) operating,
investing, and financing activities determined in accordance with IFRS, as indicators of our performance. we provide
these measures to assist investors in determining our ability to generate earnings and cash provided by operating activities
and to provide additional information on how these cash resources are used. These measures are listed and defined below:
EBITDA
EBITDA is defined herein as earnings before income tax expense (recovery), (loss) gain on sale of assets, interest income
(expense), depreciation and amortization, share of loss of investment in associate, as well as non-cash stock-based
compensation expense. EBITDA does not have any standardized meaning prescribed by IFRS and therefore may not
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conform to the definition used by other companies. The adoption of IFRS did not have a significant impact on EBITDA
as previously reported under Canadian GAAP.
A reconciliation of net earnings (loss) to EBITDA for each of the periods presented in this MD&A follows:
As at
December 31,
December 31,
Change
%
$ thousands
2011
2010
Net Income
1,371
956
415
43.4%
Add:
Income tax
1,170
958
212
22.1%
Interest income
(5)
(5)
(0)
Share of loss of
(19)
(19)
investment in associate
Stock-based compensation
101
250
(149)
-59.6%
Amortization
1,879
1,217
662
54.4%
Interest on long term
1,403
642
761
118.5%
debt
5,900
4,018
1,882
46.8%
EBITDA
Adjusted working capital
Adjusted working capital is calculated as current assets less adjusted current liabilities. Adjusted current liabilities is
calculated as current liabilities, excluding interest repayable on demand to Sanya Asset Management Corporation that is
not expected to be repaid within the next 12 months, deferred revenue in connection with gas connection fees which are
deferred when we receives the payments from customers and are recognized on the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the value of work carried out during the period, as well as line of credit. As is the practice with
lines of credit in China, Typically, credit lines are renewed when it comes due.
We believe that adjusted working capital is a useful supplemental measure as it provides an indication of our ability to
settle our debt obligations as they come due.
Our calculation of adjusted working capital is provided in the table below:
As at
$ thousands
Current assets
Less: Current liabilities
Working capital (deficit)
Plus: Deferred revenue
Interest payable
Line of credit
Adjusted working capital (deficit)

December 31,
2011
9,278
19,948
(10,670)
6,069
2,104
4,848

December 31,
2010
5,993
11,987
(5,994)
4,684
1,965
-

2,351

655

Financial Instruments
Changfeng does not have complex financial instruments, and the various risks related to these financial instruments,
including foreign currency risk, commodity price risk, interest rate risk, concentration of credit risk and liquidity risk have
been disclosed in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. See the “Note to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” for further details around these contracts.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
To prepare financial statements that conform to IFRS, Changfeng is required to make estimates and assumptions that
affect both the amount and timing of recording assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, since the determination of these
items may be dependent on future events. Each of these estimates varies with respect to the level of judgment involved
and the potential impact on the Company’s reported financial results. Estimates are deemed critical when the Company’s
financial condition, change in financial condition or results of operations would be materially impacted by a different
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estimate or a change in estimate from period to period. By their nature, these estimates are subject to measurement
uncertainty, and changes in these estimates may affect the consolidated financial statements of future periods.
All of the Company’s significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 3 of the Audited Consolidated Financial
Statements, which are incorporated by reference and can be found on the regulator’s web site at www.sedar.com
Critical Accounting Estimates
Valuation of intangible assets
The Company has intangible assets acquired in a business acquisition that were recorded at their fair values at the
acquisition date. The identification and valuation of these intangible assets at the time of acquisition require the use of
management judgment and estimates, which were believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The use of
alternative estimates and assumptions could increase or decrease the estimated fair value of recorded intangible assets,
and potentially result in a different impact to our results of operations.
The Company's intangible assets consist of gas purchase contract rights, which are amortized over their contractual useful
lives. As at December 31, 2011 and 2010, the Company had intangible assets of $299,181and $528,150, respectively.
Revenue recognition
Gas connection revenue is deferred and only recognized when the outcome of a contract can be estimated reliably and the
stage of completion at the balance sheet date can be measured reliably.
Revenue from gas connection contracts is recognized on the percentage of completion method, measured by reference to
the value of work carried out during the year. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately. Sales of gas appliances are recognized when goods are
delivered and title has passed.
As at December 31, 2011 and 2010 the Company had deferred revenue of $6,069,457 and $4,683,502, respectively, with
respect to deposits received from customers in excess of the value of work carried out during the year.
Amortization expense
The Company's plant and equipment are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives once they are
ready for their intended use. The estimation of useful lives requires management's judgment regarding the period of time
the assets will be in use based on engineering studies, experience and industry practice.
Plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Land use rights are recorded at cost and amortized over the term of the
agreement. The useful lives of the Company’s assets are as follows:

Pipelines
Land use rights
Motor vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment
CNG refuelling station

30 - 35 years
Term of agreement
3 - 10 years
3 - 20 years
3 - 5 years
20 years

Amortization expense in 2011 was $1.88 million (2010 — $1.22 million).
Impairment evaluation
The Company assesses intangible assets with indefinite lives for impairment annually or when an event or change in
circumstances may indicate impairment. This assessment includes a comparison of the carrying value of the indefinite life
intangible asset to its estimated fair value to ensure that the fair value is greater than the carrying value. The Company
calculates the estimated fair value using valuation methods such as discounted cash flow analysis. These valuation
methods employ a variety of assumptions, including future revenue growth, expected earnings, and earnings multiples.
Estimating the fair value of an indefinite life intangible asset is a subjective process and requires the use of our best
estimates. If our estimates or assumptions change from those used in our current valuation, we may be required to
recognize impairment losses in future periods.
The Company assesses the carrying value of long-lived assets, which include property, plant and equipment and
intangible assets subject to amortization, for indications of impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable from estimated future cash flows. Estimating future cash flows requires
assumptions about future business conditions and technological developments. Significant, unanticipated changes to these
assumptions could require a provision for impairment in the future.
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Income taxes
The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method of tax allocation,
current income taxes are recognized for the estimated taxes payable for the current year. Future income taxes are
determined based on the temporary differences between the accounting and tax bases of assets and liabilities, as well as
for the benefit of losses available to be carried forward to future years for tax purposes that are more likely than not to be
realized. These income tax assets and liabilities are measured using the enacted or substantively enacted tax rates in
which the income tax assets or liabilities are expected to be settled or realized. A valuation allowance is provided to the
extent that it is more likely than not that future income tax assets will not be realized.
According to the PRC Tax Administration and Collection Law, the statute of limitations is three years if the
underpayment of taxes is due to computational errors made by the taxpayer or the withholding agent. The statute of
limitations is extended to five years under special circumstances, which are not clearly defined. There is no statute of
limitations in the case of tax evasion. The tax returns of the Company's PRC subsidiaries for the 2010 tax year are subject
to examination by the relevant tax authorities.

Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
Effective January 1, 2011, Canadian publicly accountable enterprises were required to adopt IFRS for fiscal years
beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with a transition date of January 1, 2010.
The first quarter of 2011 ended March 31, 2011 with comparative information for 2010 was the Company’s first interim
period reported under IFRS. All comparative figures in this annual report have been restated to be in accordance with
IFRS, unless specifically noted otherwise.
Note 25 of the Company’s audited consolidated financial statements provide more detail on its key Canadian GAAP to
IFRS differences, the Company’s accounting policy decision and IFRS 1, First-Time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards, optional exemptions for significant or potentially significant areas that have had an impact on the
Company’s financial statements on transition to IFRS or may have an impact in future periods.
Transitional Financial Impact
As a result of the policy choices the Company has selected and the changes it was required to make under IFRS, we had
no material impact in its opening balance as at January 1, 2010. The table below outlines adjustments to equity and net
income on adoption of IFRS on January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010 for comparative purposes.
Reconciliation of shareholders' equity as reported under Canadian GAAP to total equity under IFRS:
December 31,
2010
Shareholders' equity reported under
Canadian GAAP
Reclassification of non-controlling
interest to total equity under IFRS
Differences increasing reported total
equity:
Plant and equipment
Total equity under IFRS

January 1,
2010

$ 10,801,374

$

9,595,110

671,444

681,197

(190,507)

(136,597)

$ 11,282,311

$ 10,139,710

Reconciliation of net income as reported under Canadian GAAP to IFRS:
Year ended
December 31, 2010
Net income under Canadian GAAP
Add back non-controlling interest
Difference decreasing reported amount:
Amortization of assets components

$ 1,020,091
(9,754)

Net income under IFRS

$

There was no material cash flow impact.

(53,910)
956,427
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Financial statement presentation changes
Amortisation – under IFRS, Cost of sales include amortization expense.
Stock-based compensation– under IFRS, General and administrative expenses include stock-based compensation.
Interest on long-term debt– under IFRS, Interest on long-term debt are excluded from the income from operations.
Post-Implementation
The post-implementation phase will involve continuous monitoring of changes in IFRS in future periods. We note that the
standard setting bodies that determine IFRS have significant ongoing projects that could impact the IFRS accounting
policies that the Company has selected. In particular, we expect that there may be additional new or revised IFRSs or
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) in relation to consolidation, financial instruments,
and leases. The Company also notes that the International Accounting Standards Board is currently working on an
extractive industries project, which could significantly impact its financial statements primarily in the areas of
capitalization of exploration costs and disclosures. The Company has processes in place to ensure that potential changes
are monitored and evaluated. The impact of any new IFRSs and IFRIC interpretations will be evaluated as they are
drafted and published.

Future Accounting Changes
Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRS Interpretations Committee that are not yet effective for the
year ended December 31, 2011, and have not been applied in preparing these consolidated financial statements:
Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement
In October 2010, the IASB published amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (IFRS 9 (2010)) which provide added
guidance on the classification and measurement of financial liabilities. IFRS 9 (2010) supersedes IFRS 9 (2009) and is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015, with early adoption permitted. For annual periods
beginning before January 1, 2015, either IFRS 9 (2009) or IFRS 9 (2010) may be applied. The Company intends to adopt
IFRS 9 (2010) in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2015. The extent of the impact of
adoption of IFRS 9 (2010) has not yet been determined.
Financial Instruments – Disclosures
In October 2010, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. These amendments require
disclosure of information that enables users of financial statements to understand the relationship between transferred
financial assets that are not derecognized in their entirety and the associated liabilities; and to evaluate the nature of, and
risks associated with, the Company's continuing involvement in derecognized financial assets. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2012 and therefore the Company will apply the amendments
in the first quarter of 2012. There is no significant expected impact to the Company as a result of implementing this
standard.
Financial Assets and Liabilities
In December 2011 the IASB published amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and issued new
disclosure requirements in IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The effective date for the amendments to IAS 32
is annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The effective date for the amendments to IFRS 7 is annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. These amendments are to be applied retrospectively.
The amendments to IAS 32 clarify when an entity has a legally enforceable right to off-set as well as clarify, when a
settlement mechanism provides for net settlement, or gross settlement that is equivalent to net settlement. The
amendments to IFRS 7 contain new disclosure requirements for financial assets and liabilities that are offset in the
statement of financial position or subject to master netting arrangements or similar arrangements. The Company intends
to adopt the amendments to IFRS 7 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013, and the
amendments to IAS 32 in its financial statements for the annual period beginning January 1, 2014. The extent of the
impact of adoption of the amendments has not yet been determined.
Consolidated Financial Statements
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements. IFRS 10 replaces portions of IAS 27,
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, that addresses consolidation, and supersedes SIC-12, Consolidation Special Purpose Entities ("SPE"), in its entirety. IFRS 10 provides a single model to be applied in the analysis of control
of all investees, including entities that currently are SPEs in the scope of SIC-12. In addition, the consolidation
procedures specified in IFRS 10 are carried forward substantially unmodified from IAS 27.
Joint Arrangements
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In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements. IFRS 11 supersedes IAS 31, Interest in Joint Ventures and
SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities - Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. Through an assessment of the rights and
obligations in an arrangement, IFRS 11 establishes principles to determine the type of joint arrangement, which are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures, and provides guidance for financial reporting activities required by
the entities that have an interest in arrangements that are controlled jointly. Investments in joint ventures are required to
be accounted for using the equity method.
As a result of the issuance of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11, IAS 28, Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures, has been
amended to correspond to the guidance provided in IFRS 10 and IFRS 11.
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities, which contains disclosure requirements
for companies that have interests in subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities.
IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, and the amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28 are all effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2013. Early adoption is permitted, so long as IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, and the amendments
to IAS 27 and IAS 28 are adopted at the same time. However, entities are permitted to incorporate any of the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 12 into their financial statements without early adopting IFRS 10, IFRS 11, amendments to IAS 27
and 28. The Company intends to adopt IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 and the amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28 in its
consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. The extent of the impact of
adoption of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 and the amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28 has not yet been determined.
Fair Value Measurement
In May 2011, the IASB published IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement, which is effective prospectively for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013. IFRS 13 replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual
IFRSs with a single source of fair value measurement guidance. The standard also establishes a framework for measuring
fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. The Company intends to adopt IFRS 13
prospectively in its financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. The extent of the impact of
adoption of IFRS 13 has not yet been determined.
Presentation of Financial Statements
In June 2011, the IASB published amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Presentation of Items of
Other Comprehensive Income, which are effective for annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012 and are to be
applied retrospectively. Early adoption is permitted. These amendments require that a company present separately the
items of other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future from those that would never be
reclassified to profit or loss. The Company intends to adopt these amendments in its financial statements for the annual
period beginning on January 1, 2013. The extent of the impact of adoption of these amendments has not yet been
determined.
Employee Benefits
In June 2011, the IASB published an amended version of IAS 19 Employee Benefits. Adoption of the amendment is
required for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. The amendment is
generally applied retrospectively with certain exceptions. The amendment will require the calculation of expected return
on plan assets to be based on the rate used to discount the defined benefit obligation. The amendment also requires other
additional disclosures. The Company intends to adopt the amendment in its financial statements for the annual period
beginning on January 1, 2013. Where required, the Company will apply this amendment retrospectively. The extent of
the impact of adoption of the amendment has not yet been determined.

Outlook
China is entering into a “Natural Gas Era”. Natural gas supply is expected to grow from 100 billion m3 (bcm) in 2010 to
240 bcm by 2015. That’s an additional 140 bcm that needs to reach new customers and requires a distribution solution
that we provide. We believe that Changfeng is well positioned to achieve a larger share in this fast growing sector.
Our outlook for 2012 is very positive. We expect to continue to add both residential and commercial customers to our
existing pipeline networks in the Sanya Region, including the Haitang Bay district, although the pace of its development
is slowing down. We anticipate that the volume of gas sold during 2012 will continue to increase from both our
operations in the Sanya Region and our CNG refueling retail station in Changsha city.
In addition, with the upcoming full operation of the eight sub-lines of the PetroChina’s Second West-East Gas Pipeline by
mid-2012, we believe that further increases in our revenue in 2012 may be possible from our Xiangdong project.
We also expect there are opportunities to continue to grow our business through our proposed joint venture with CNPC
Kunlun Natural Gas Exploitation Company Limited in Guangdong province, China.

Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Shareholders of Changfeng Energy Inc.
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Changfeng Energy Inc., which comprise the
consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010,
and notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply with
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we
consider internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of
the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Changfeng Energy Inc. as at December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010, and its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010 in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards.
Emphasis of Matter
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 2(a) in the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that
Changfeng Energy Inc. has a working capital deficiency as at December 31, 2011 with significant short-term liabilities and
contractual commitments due in 2012. This condition, along with other matters as set forth in note 2(a) in the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about Changfeng Energy
Inc.'s ability to continue as a going concern.

Chartered Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants
April 30, 2012
Toronto, Canada

CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
December 31, 2011, December 31, 2010 and January 1, 2010
December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010
(Note 25)

January 1,
2010
(Note 25)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash
Trade and other receivables (note 5)
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Inventories (note 6)
Due from related parties (note 16)
Total current assets

$

Non-current assets:
Long-term deposits and advances (note 7)
Investment in associate (note 9)
Property and equipment (note 10)
Intangible assets (note 11)
Deferred income tax assets (note 15)
Total non-current assets

5,061,517
2,567,215
596,331
729,413
323,200
9,277,676

$

1,888,889
787,821
43,364,393
299,181
–
46,340,284

Total assets

$

55,617,960

$

4,848,000
4,882,747
6,069,457
2,104,388
1,616,000
427,843
19,948,435

2,670,113
2,034,762
334,887
572,566
380,301
5,992,629

$

917,657
–
37,317,603
528,150
–
38,763,410
$

3,782,250
1,129,924
299,660
581,570
385,140
6,178,544
169,692
–
29,077,168
536,550
197,440
29,980,850

44,756,039

$

36,159,394

–
4,262,759
4,683,502
1,965,051
754,500
320,879
11,986,691

$

–
2,637,320
3,586,710
1,996,304
8,400,840
200,510
16,821,684

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Bank indebtedness (note 12(e))
Trade and other payables
Deferred revenue
Interest payable (note 12(f))
Current portion of long-term debt (note 12)
Due to related parties (note 16)
Total current liabilities

$

Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt (note 12)
Due to related parties (note 16)
Deferred income tax liabilities (note 15)
Total non-current liabilities

15,022,232
6,948,800
142,059
22,113,091

15,451,037
6,036,000
–
21,487,037

3,066,000
6,132,000
–
9,198,000

Total liabilities

42,061,526

33,473,728

26,019,684

Shareholders' equity:
Share capital (note 13)
Contributed surplus (note 13(c))
Warrants
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Deficit
Total shareholders' equity
Non-controlling interest
Total equity

12,121,808
1,863,374
–
738,015
(1,824,362)
12,898,835
657,599
13,556,434

12,121,808
1,762,168
–
(63,762)
(3,209,347)
10,610,867
671,444
11,282,311

12,121,808
1,190,509
321,724
–
(4,175,528)
9,458,513
681,197
10,139,710

Going concern (note 2(a))
Commitments and contingences (note 18)
Economic dependence (note 21)
Subsequent events (note 24)
Total liabilities and equity

$

55,617,960

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
On behalf of the Board:
"Graham Warren"

Director

"Wencheng Zhang"

Director
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$

44,756,039

$

36,159,394

CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
2011

2010

$ 28,175,681

$ 22,135,218

Cost of sales

16,467,194

11,806,485

Gross margin

11,708,487

10,328,733

5,062,363
2,688,901
7,751,264

4,606,427
3,171,278
7,777,705

Income from operations

3,957,223

2,551,028

Interest expense
Interest income
Share of loss of investment in associate (note 9)

1,402,585
(5,197)
19,118

Income before income taxes

2,540,717

1,914,127

Income taxes (note 15)

1,169,577

957,700

Net income

1,371,140

956,427

Revenue

Expenses:
General and administrative
Travel and business development

Other comprehensive income (loss):
Exchange differences on translation of
foreign operations

641,838
(4,937)
–

801,777

(63,762)

Total comprehensive income

$

2,172,917

$

892,665

Net income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest

$

1,384,985
(13,845)

$

966,181
(9,754)

$

1,371,140

$

956,427

$

2,186,762
(13,845)

$

902,419
(9,754)

$

2,172,917

$

892,665

$

0.021

$

0.015

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interest

Earnings per share attributable to common shareholders:
Basic and diluted (note 14)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$ 12,121,808

Balance, December 31, 2010

$

$

$

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

$ 12,121,808
–
–
–
–

Balance, January 1, 2010
Net income (loss)
Stock-based compensation
Currency translation adjustment
Warrants expired

December 31, 2010

$ 12,121,808

Balance, December 31, 2011

Share
capital

$ 12,121,808
–
–
–

Share
capital

Balance, January 1, 2011
Net income (loss)
Stock-based compensation
Currency translation adjustment

December 31, 2011

Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
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1,762,168

1,190,509
–
249,935
–
321,724

Contributed
surplus

1,863,374

1,762,168
–
101,206
–

Contributed
surplus

Warrants

–

–
–
–
–

$

–

$ 321,724
–
–
–
(321,724)

$

$

Warrants

$

$

$

$

$

$

738,015

(63,762)
–
–
801,777

(3,209,347)

(4,175,528)
966,181
–
–
–

$

$

(63,762)

–
–
–
(63,762)
–

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
Deficit
loss

(1,824,362)

(3,209,347)
1,384,985
–
–

Accumulated
other
comprehensive
Deficit
income (loss)

$

$

$

$

671,444

681,197
(9,754)
–
1
–

Noncontrolling
interest

657,599

671,444
(13,845)
–
–

Noncontrolling
interest

$ 11,282,311

$ 10,139,710
956,427
249,935
(63,761)
–

Total

$ 13,556,434

$ 11,282,311
1,371,140
101,206
801,777

Total

CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
2011
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income
Items not involving cash:
Deferred income taxes
Amortization
Share of loss of investment in associate (note 9)
Current income taxes
Interest expense
Stock-based compensation
Income taxes paid
Interest paid
Change in non-cash operating working capital (note 17)
Net cash flows from operating activities

$ 1,371,140

2010

$

956,427

142,059
1,878,734
19,118
1,027,518
1,402,585
101,206
(1,070,052)
(1,383,344)
743,721
4,232,685

195,800
1,217,139
–
761,900
641,838
249,935
(566,717)
(1,425,835)
2,724,352
4,754,839

Cash flows from financing activities:
Net (decrease) increase in long-term debt
Net increase in bank indebtedness
Increase in financing cost
Net cash flows from operating activities

(1,021,300)
4,848,800
–
3,827,500

5,357,480
–
(452,740)
4,904,740

Cash flows from investing activities:
Property and equipment
Investment in associate
Long-term deposits
Net cash flows used in investing activities

(4,949,015)
(306,200)
(705,358)
(5,960,573)

(9,963,290)
–
(756,446)
(10,719,736)

2,099,612

(1,060,157)

291,792

(51,980)

Increase (decrease) in net cash
Effects of foreign exchange on cash balances
Net cash, beginning of year
Net cash, end of year
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2,670,113

3,782,250

$ 5,061,517

$ 2,670,113

CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

1.

Corporate information:
Changfeng Energy Inc. (the "Company" or "Changfeng") was incorporated under the Canada
Business Corporations Act on May 4, 2006. Through its subsidiaries, the Company's core
business activity is the distribution of natural gas for industrial, commercial and residential users
in the People's Republic of China ("China" or "PRC"). The registered office of the Company is
located at 25 Adelaide Street East, Suite 1612, Toronto, Ontario, M5C 3A1, and the principal
operations of its business are in China.
The ability to build and operate gas pipeline infrastructure and distribute piped gas in China is
established by concession rights obtained from the applicable municipal and provincial
governments. Natural gas distribution operations in China are subject to certain government
regulations regarding the purchase and sale of natural gas, including pricing.

2.

Basis of presentation:
(a) Going concern:
The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the basis of
accounting principles applicable to a going concern, which contemplate the realization of
assets and the satisfaction of liabilities and commitments in the normal course of business.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $10,670,759.
Included in the working capital deficiency are $2,104,388 of interest payable and a
$4,848,000 one-year line of credit. Interest payable is due on demand to Sanya State
Assets Management Corporation (a state owned company) and originated in years prior to
2007. Sanya State Assets Management Corporation has not requested payment for more
than four years and the Company believes that it will not seek repayment in 2012. The
Company's line of credit has historically been a one-year facility which requires annual
renewals or replacement when it becomes due and the Company believes that it will be
able to renew the line of credit when it becomes due. The Company continues to explore
various sources of financing opportunities such as long-term debt and/or equity financing to
support its operations.
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CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

2.

Basis of presentation (continued):
Excluding the two items above, the Company has a working capital deficiency of
$3,718,371. The Company believes that this deficiency can be funded through projected
operating cash flows from operations.
There are certain assumptions made by
management in determining projected operating cash flow such as temporary natural gas
contracts from the government of China, continued growth in the Sanya region, reductions
in selling, general and administrative expenses by reducing business development
expenditures and the ability to expand the compressed natural gas (“CNG”) facility with
capital expenditures of approximately $1,400,000.
While management believes the assumptions included in the operating forecast are
reasonable there is no guarantee that they will materialize as planned. Furthermore, there
is no guarantee that the interest payable to Sanya State Assets Management Corporation
will not be required to be repaid within the next 12 months, or that the renewal of the line of
credit in future periods will be successful. Furthermore, the Company may not be
successful in obtaining additional financing on acceptable terms, on a timely basis, or at all,
if the interest payable must be paid, if the line of credit is not renewed in future periods
and/or projected operating cash flows do not materialize as planned.
The above conditions have resulted in a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt
over the Company's ability to finance its operations to permit it to continue as a going
concern. These consolidated financial statements do not reflect adjustments that would be
necessary if the going concern basis of presentation was not appropriate. If the going
concern basis of presentation was not appropriate for these consolidated financial
statements, then adjustments would be necessary to the carrying value of assets and
liabilities, the reported net income for the period and the balance sheet classifications used.
(b) Statement of compliance:
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board ("IASB") and using the accounting policies described herein. These are
the Company's first annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with
IFRS and therefore the Company has applied IFRS 1, First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS 1"). An explanation of how the transition from
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") to IFRS as at January 1,
2010 ("transition date") has affected the reported financial position, financial performance
and cash flows of the Company, including the mandatory exceptions and optional
exemptions under IFRS 1, is provided in note 25 of these consolidated financial
statements.
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CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

2.

Basis of presentation (continued):
The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors
on April 30, 2012.
(c) Basis of measurement:
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis for all
its recognized assets and liabilities, except for certain financial instruments measured at fair
value, and are presented in Canadian dollars.
(d) Presentation currency:
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars.
(e) Impairment of non-financial assets or asset groups:
The Company performed an assessment of whether there was any indication of impairment
in the carrying amounts of its cash generating units ("CGUs") as at December 31, 2011. As
a result of this assessment, the Company determined that it needed to measure the
recoverable amounts based on value-in-use, using an EBITDA multiples approach. The
Company determined that the estimated recoverable amounts were higher than their
carrying amounts and no impairment was noted.

3.

Significant accounting policies:
The accounting policies of the Company are in accordance with IFRS and have been applied
consistently to all periods presented in the consolidated financial statements and in preparing
the opening IFRS balance sheet as at January 1, 2010 for the purposes of the transition to
IFRS ("transition date"), unless otherwise indicated.
All amounts in the consolidated financial statements are stated in Canadian dollars unless
indicated with "RMB" to represent the Chinese Renminbi or "U.S." to represent the United
States dollar.
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CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(a) Basis of consolidation:
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company
and its two wholly owned subsidiaries, Hainan Energy Ltd. and Sanya Changfeng Offshore
Natural Gas Distribution Co., Ltd. ("CF China"), its 99.4% interest in Sanya Changfeng
Offshore Natural Gas Engineering Construction Co. Ltd. ("CF Engineering"), its 99.99%
interest in Sanya Changfeng New Energy Investment Co., Ltd., its 98% interest in Sanya
Changfeng Offshore Natural Gas Design Co. Ltd., its 58% interest in Hunan Changfeng
CNPC Energy Co., Ltd. ("Hunan CF CNPC"), its 60% interest in Hunan CNPC New Energy
Investment Co., Ltd. ("Hunan CNPC NEI"), its 80% interest in Pingxiang Changfeng Natural
Gas Co. Ltd. ("Pingxiang CF"), and its 51% interest in Xiangtan Changfeng Natural Gas
Co., Ltd. ("Xiangtan CF").
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the
Company obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date when such control
ceases. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern
the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.
Non-controlling interest represents the portion of a subsidiary's net earnings and net assets
that are attributable to shares of such subsidiary not held by the Company.
The financial statements of each subsidiary are prepared for the same reporting period as
the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances,
transactions, and any unrealized income and expenses arising from intercompany
transactions within the Company are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.
(b) Investment in associate:
Associates are those entities in which the Company has significant influence, but not
control, over the financial and operating policies. Significant influence is presumed to exist
when the Company holds between 20% and 50% of the voting power of another entity.
Investment in associates are accounted for using the equity method and are recognized
initially at cost. The consolidated financial statements include the Company's share of the
revenue and expenses and equity movements of equity-accounted investees from the date
that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. When
the Company's share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity-accounted investee, the
carrying amount of that interest, including any long-term investments, is reduced to nil and
the recognition of further losses is discontinued, except to the extent that the Company has
an obligation or has made payments on behalf of the equity-accounted investee.
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CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(c) Foreign currency translation:
The Canadian dollar is the functional currency of the parent company's operations, and the
RMB is the functional currency of the Company's subsidiaries and associate. Since the
RMB is not a fully convertible currency, all foreign exchange transactions involving RMB
must take place either through the People's Bank of China or other institutions authorized
to buy and sell RMB.
Transaction amounts denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the Company's
functional currency at exchange rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Carrying values
of foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates in effect
at the consolidated balance sheet dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities are translated
at historical exchange rates, unless such items are carried at fair value, in which case, they
are translated at the exchange rates in effect on the consolidated balance sheet dates.
On consolidation, the results of foreign operations are translated into Canadian dollars at
rates approximating those in effect when the transactions took place. All assets and
liabilities of operations in China are translated at the rate in effect at the reporting date.
Exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income.
(d) Property and equipment:
On initial recognition, property and equipment are recorded at cost, being the purchase
price and directly attributable costs of acquisition or construction required to bring the asset
to the location and condition necessary to be capable of operating in the manner intended
by the Company, including appropriate borrowing costs. Property and equipment is
measured at cost, net of accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses, if
any.
Assets under construction are shown in a separate category of property and equipment as
construction in progress and are also recognized at cost. For qualifying assets, cost
includes interest capitalized during the construction period. On completion, the costs of
construction are transferred to the appropriate category of property and equipment.
When parts of an item of property and equipment have different useful lives, they are
accounted for as separate items (components) of property and equipment.
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CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
The Company holds land use rights in China, which enables it to utilize land for a fixed
period of time.
Amortization of property and equipment is recorded on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

Buildings
Pipelines
Land use rights
Motor vehicles
Furniture and equipment
Computer equipment
Leasehold improvements

30 - 35 years
30 - 35 years
Term of agreement
3 - 10 years
3 - 20 years
3 - 5 years
Term of agreement

Assets classified as construction in progress are not amortized until they are ready for their
intended use, at which point, they are transferred to property and equipment.
(e) Intangible assets:
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost
of an intangible asset acquired in a business combination is its fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The Company has intangible assets with definite lives, which consist of gas
purchase contract rights that are recorded at cost and are amortized on a straight-line basis
over their contractual useful lives commencing from the initial delivery of gas.
(f) Impairment of long-lived assets:
The Company reviews and evaluates its long-lived assets or asset groups held and used
for impairment, including property and equipment and intangible assets, when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the related carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. Asset groups referred to as CGUs are reviewed at their lowest level for which
identifiable cash inflows are largely independent of cash inflows of other assets or groups
of assets. The recoverable amount is the greater of an asset's or CGU's fair value less
costs to sell and value in use.
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CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
Fair value less costs to sell is the amount obtainable from the sale of an asset or a cashgenerating unit ("CGU") in an arm's-length transaction between knowledgeable, willing
parties, less the costs of disposal. Costs of disposal are incremental costs directly
attributable to the disposal of an asset or CGU, excluding finance costs and income tax
expense.
Value in use is based on estimates of discounted future cash flows expected to be
recovered from an asset or CGU through the use of those assets. Management develops
its cash flow projections based on past performance and its expectations of future market
and business developments. Once calculated, the estimated future pre-tax cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.
An impairment loss is recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income
when the carrying amount of the asset or CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognized in respect of CGUs are allocated to reduce the carrying
amount of their assets on a pro rata basis.
Impairment losses related to long-lived assets recognized in prior periods are assessed at
each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An
impairment loss is recovered if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined,
net of amortization, if no previous impairment loss had been recognized.
(g) Financial instruments:
The Company's financial assets and financial liabilities are classified as held-for-trading,
loans and receivables or other financial liabilities. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the financial instruments were acquired and their characteristics. Heldfor-trading financial instruments are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognized in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income in the periods in
which such changes arise. Loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are initially
recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost.
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CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
Assets and liabilities carried at fair value must be classified using a three-level hierarchy
that reflects the significance and transparency of the inputs used in making the fair value
measurements:

x

Level 1 - inputs are unadjusted quoted prices of identical instruments in active markets;

x

Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

x

Level 3 - one or more significant inputs used in a valuation technique to determine fair
value are unobservable.

Financial assets are assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any
objective evidence of impairment. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective
evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset, with impairment losses recognized in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.
The Company designates its cash as held-for-trading, which is measured at fair value.
Trade and other receivables and due from related parties are classified as loans and
receivables, which are measured at amortized cost. Bank indebtedness, long-term debt,
trade and other payables and due to related parties are classified as other financial
liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate method.
Transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of financial assets and liabilities,
except for those classified as fair value through income.
The Company's financial assets and liabilities are classified into the following categories:
Year ended
December 31, 2011
Cash
Trade and other receivables
Due from related parties
Trade and other payables
Due to related parties
Interest payable
Long-term debt

Held for trading
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities
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CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
(h) Inventories:
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value, with cost being
determined using the weighted average cost basis. Cost includes the purchase price,
transportation costs and other costs to bring the inventories to their present locations and
conditions. Reversal of previous write-downs is required when there is a subsequent
increase in the value of inventories.
(i) Revenue recognition and deferred revenue:
Revenue is derived from the supply of natural gas and from the installation and connection
of natural gas pipelines for end users.
The Company recognizes revenue from the supply of natural gas when it has been
delivered and is recorded on the basis of regular meter readings and estimates of usage
since the last meter reading to the end of the reporting period. Revenue is recorded using
fixed prices approved by the provincial government.
Prepayments received from
customers are deferred and recognized as a liability until gas is actually consumed.
Gas connection revenue is deferred and only recognized when the outcome of a contract
can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion at the reporting date can be
measured reliably. Revenue from gas connection contracts is recognized on the
percentage-of-completion method, measured by reference to the value of work carried out
during the periods. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed contract
revenue, the expected loss is recognized as an expense immediately. Sales of gas
appliances are recognized when goods are delivered and title has passed.
Interest income is recorded on an accrual basis.
(j) Income taxes:
Income tax expense is comprised of current and deferred tax. Current income tax assets
and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute current income tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting dates, and are adjusted for changes in
estimates of tax expense recognized in the prior period.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are only offset if a legally enforceable right
exists to offset the amounts, and the Company intends to settle on a net basis, or to realize
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Current and deferred tax is recognized on the consolidated statements of comprehensive
income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.
The Company uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes.
Accordingly, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the deferred tax
consequences attributable to differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted or
substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in years in which those
temporary differences are expected be recovered or settled. In addition, the effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in both net income
and comprehensive income in the period in which the enactment or substantive enactment
takes place.
Deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent that it is probable that the deductible
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and future taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary difference can be utilized.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognized for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable
that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Company has a legally enforceable
right and intent to offset, and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority.
(k) Finance income and finance costs:
Finance income comprises interest income on cash. Interest income is recognized as it
accrues on the consolidated statements of comprehensive income, using the effective
interest method.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
Finance cost comprises interest expense, which is recognized as it accrues on the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income, using the effective interest method, and
impairment losses recognized on financial assets, if any. Interest incurred on borrowings
directly attributable to fund the acquisition, construction or production of an asset that
necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale is
capitalized as part of the cost of the respective asset.
Borrowing costs that are not attributable to a qualifying asset are expensed in the periods in
which they are incurred and reported within interest expense in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.
(l) Share-based payments:
The Company applies the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation.
The fair value at grant date of stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. Compensation cost is recognized on a straight-line basis over the
expected vesting period of the stock-based compensation. The Company estimates
forfeitures at the grant date and revises the estimate as necessary if subsequent
information indicates that actual forfeitures differ significantly from the original estimate.
(m) Accounting standards issued but not yet effective:
Certain pronouncements were issued by the IASB or the IFRS Interpretations Committee
that are not yet effective for the year ended December 31, 2011, and have not been applied
in preparing these consolidated financial statements.
Financial Instruments - Recognition and Measurement:
In October 2010, the IASB published amendments to IFRS 9, Financial Instruments
("IFRS 9 (2010)"), which provide added guidance on the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities. IFRS 9 (2010) supersedes IFRS 9 (2009) and is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2015, with early adoption permitted. For annual
periods beginning before January 1, 2015, either IFRS 9 (2009) or IFRS 9 (2010) may be
applied. The Company intends to adopt IFRS 9 (2010) in its financial statements for the
annual period beginning on January 1, 2015. The extent of the impact of adoption of
IFRS 9 (2010) has not yet been determined.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
Financial Instruments - Disclosures:
In October 2010, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 7, Financial Instruments Disclosures ("IFRS 7"). These amendments require disclosure of information that enables
users of financial statements to understand the relationship between transferred financial
assets that are not derecognized in their entirety and the associated liabilities; and to
evaluate the nature of, and risks associated with, the Company's continuing involvement in
derecognized financial assets. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2012 and, therefore, the Company will apply the amendments in the
first quarter of 2012. There is no significant expected impact to the Company as a result of
implementing this standard.
Financial Assets and Liabilities:
In December 2011 the IASB published amendments to International Accounting Standards
("IAS") 32, Financial Instruments - Presentation ("IAS 32"), and issued new disclosure
requirements in IFRS 7. The effective date for the amendments to IAS 32 is annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2014. The effective date for the amendments to IFRS 7 is
annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. These amendments are to be
applied retrospectively.
The amendments to IAS 32 clarify when an entity has a legally enforceable right to offset,
as well as clarify when a settlement mechanism provides for net settlement, or gross
settlement that is equivalent to net settlement. The amendments to IFRS 7 contain new
disclosure requirements for financial assets and liabilities that are offset in the statement of
financial position or subject to master netting arrangements or similar arrangements. The
Company intends to adopt the amendments to IFRS 7 in its financial statements for the
annual period beginning on January 1, 2013, and the amendments to IAS 32 in its financial
statements for the annual period beginning January 1, 2014. The extent of the impact of
adoption of the amendments has not yet been determined.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
Consolidated Financial Statements:
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements ("IFRS 10").
IFRS 10 replaces portions of IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, that
addresses consolidation, and supersedes SIC-12, Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities
("SPE"), in its entirety. IFRS 10 provides a single model to be applied in the analysis of
control of all investees, including entities that currently are SPEs in the scope of SIC-12. In
addition, the consolidation procedures specified in IFRS 10 are carried forward
substantially unmodified from IAS 27.
Joint Arrangements:
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 11, Joint Arrangements ("IFRS 11"). IFRS 11
supersedes IAS 31, Interest in Joint Ventures, and SIC-13, Jointly Controlled Entities Non-Monetary Contributions by Venturers. Through an assessment of the rights and
obligations in an arrangement, IFRS 11 establishes principles to determine the type of joint
arrangement, which are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures, and provides
guidance for financial reporting activities required by the entities that have an interest in
arrangements that are controlled jointly. Investments in joint ventures are required to be
accounted for using the equity method.
As a result of the issuance of IFRS 10 and IFRS 11, IAS 28, Investments in Associates,
has been amended to correspond to the guidance provided in IFRS 10 and IFRS 11.
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities:
In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 12, Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
("IFRS 12"), which contains disclosure requirements for companies that have interests in
subsidiaries, joint arrangements, associates and unconsolidated structured entities.
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3.

Significant accounting policies (continued):
IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, and the amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28 are all effective
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. Early adoption is permitted, so
long as IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12, and the amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28 are
adopted at the same time. However, entities are permitted to incorporate any of the
disclosure requirements in IFRS 12 into their financial statements without early adopting
IFRS 10, IFRS 11, and amendments to IAS 27 and 28. The Company intends to adopt
IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 and the amendments to IAS 27 and IAS 28 in its
consolidated financial statements for the annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. The
extent of the impact of adoption of IFRS 10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 and the amendments to
IAS 27 and IAS 28 has not yet been determined.
Fair Value Measurement:
In May 2011, the IASB published IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement ("IFRS 13"), which is
effective prospectively for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013. IFRS 13
replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRS with a single
source of fair value measurement guidance. The standard also establishes a framework
for measuring fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements.
The Company intends to adopt IFRS 13 prospectively in its financial statements for the
annual period beginning on January 1, 2013. The extent of the impact of adoption of
IFRS 13 has not yet been determined.
Presentation of Financial Statements:
In June 2011, the IASB published amendments to IAS 1, Presentation of Financial
Statements: Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income, which are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2012 and are to be applied retrospectively.
Early adoption is permitted. These amendments require that a company present
separately the items of other comprehensive income that may be reclassified to profit or
loss in the future from those that would never be reclassified to profit or loss. The
Company intends to adopt these amendments in its financial statements for the annual
period beginning on January 1, 2013. The extent of the impact of adoption of these
amendments has not yet been determined.
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4.

Significant accounting judgment, estimates and assumptions:
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of
accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.
Actual results may differ from those estimates.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognized in the periods in which the estimates are revised and in
any future periods affected. Information about significant areas of estimation and critical
judgments in applying accounting policies that have significant effects on the amounts
recognized in the consolidated financial statements is included in the following notes:
(a) Allowance for doubtful accounts:
The Company establishes a provision for doubtful receivables when there is objective
evidence that the Company will not be able to collect all amounts due to it. The allowance
is based on management's best estimates of specific losses on individual exposures, as
well as a provision on historical trends of collections. The provision is recorded against the
trade and other receivables balance, with a corresponding charge recorded in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive income. Actual amounts received may differ
from management's estimate.
(b) Revenue recognition:
Gas connection revenue is deferred and recognized only when the outcome of a contract
can be estimated reliably and the stage of completion at the consolidated balance sheet
dates can be measured reliably.
Revenue from gas connection contracts is recognized using the percentage-of-completion
method, measured by reference to the value of work carried out during the periods. When
it is probable that total contract costs will exceed contract revenue, the expected loss is
recognized as an expense in the period in which the expected loss is identified.
(c) Amortization expense:
The Company's long-lived assets are amortized over their estimated useful economic lives
on a straight-line basis. Useful lives are based upon management's estimates of the length
of time that the assets will generate revenue, which is reviewed at least annually for
appropriateness. Changes to these estimates can result in variations in the amounts
charged for amortization and in the assets' carrying amounts.
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4.

Significant accounting judgment, estimates and assumptions (continued):
(d) Income taxes:
Provisions for income taxes are based on domestic and international statutory income tax
rates and tax planning opportunities available to the Company in the jurisdictions in which it
operates. Significant judgment is required determining income tax provisions and the
recoverability of deferred tax assets. The calculation of current and deferred income tax
balances requires management to make estimates regarding the carrying values of assets
and liabilities that include estimates of future cash flows and income related to such assets
and liabilities, the interpretation of income tax legislation in the jurisdictions in which the
Company operates, and the timing of reversal of temporary differences. The Company
establishes additional provisions for income taxes when, despite management's opinion
that tax positions are fully supportable, there is sufficient complexity or uncertainty in the
application of legislation that certain tax positions may be reassessed by tax authorities.
The Company adjusts these additional accruals in light of changing facts and
circumstances.
(e) Share-based payments:
The Company measures the cost of equity-settled transactions with employees by
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments at the dates at which they are granted.
Determining fair value for share-based payment transactions requires the use of the most
appropriate valuation model, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant.
The determination of fair value requires estimating the expected life of the share option,
volatility and dividend yield. The assumptions and models used for estimating fair value for
share-based payment transactions are disclosed in note 13.

5.

Trade and other receivables:
Components of trade and other receivables are as follows:

Trade receivables
Less allowance for doubtful accounts

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

January 1,
2010

$ 2,577,200
15,616

$ 1,930,540
14,463

$ 1,044,752
5,138

2,561,584

1,916,077

1,039,614

5,631

118,685

90,310

$ 2,567,215

$ 2,034,762

$ 1,129,924

Net trade receivables
Other receivables
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5.

Trade and other receivables (continued):
The aging of trade receivables is as follows:

Current
Past due 30 - 61 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due > 90 days

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

January 1,
2010

$ 1,811,943
152,083
482,837
130,337

$ 1,764,847
8,377
128,240
29,076

$

$ 2,577,200

$ 1,930,540

$ 1,044,752

862,619
26,914
125,158
30,061

The Company's exposure to credit and foreign exchange risks and impairment loss is disclosed
in note 20.
6.

Inventories:
December 31,
2011
Construction materials
Gas appliances, meters and spare parts
Natural gas

December 31,
2010

January 1,
2010

$

459,582
236,895
32,936

$

392,970
179,596
–

$ 410,682
170,888
–

$

729,413

$

572,566

$ 581,570

The amount of inventories recognized as an expense through cost of sales during the year was
$3,467,631 (2010 - $2,946,702), which was completely comprised of raw material costs.
During the year, the Company impaired $18,557 (2010 - nil) of inventory. There were no
reversals of impairment recorded during the year (2010 - nil).
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7.

Deposits and advances:
Deposits in connection with potential acquisitions and other long-term prepaid expenses and
deposits are summarized below:
(a) Advances on potential acquisitions:
(i) In 2010, the Company paid a deposit of $161,600 (RMB 1,000,000) to the existing
shareholder of Hunan CNPC, Guangda Gas Co., Ltd. ("Guangda Gas"), a company
that Changfeng is considering for acquisition. Guangda Gas owns a CNG primary
filling station in Changsha City. The deposit is refundable if the Company is not
satisfied with its due diligence procedures or a reasonable purchase price cannot be
negotiated. As at December 31, 2011, the Company had not completed the negotiation
of the acquisition and the deposit is still outstanding.
(ii) In 2010, the Company paid a deposit of $80,800 (RMB 500,000) to the existing
shareholders of Jiangxi Pingxiang Huaneng Energy Co. Ltd. ("Pingxiang Huaneng"), a
company that Changfeng is considering for acquisition. Pingxiang Huaneng is a
natural gas distributor in the Xiangdong district, Pingxiang City, Jiangxi Province. The
deposit is refundable if the Company is not satisfied with its due diligence procedures
or a reasonable purchase price cannot be negotiated. As at December 31, 2011, the
Company had not completed the negotiation of the acquisition and the deposit is still
outstanding.
(b) Commitments for the transfer of land use rights:
During 2011, the Company partially completed construction of a monitoring and control
centre and administrative office in Sanya City. An advance of $1,281,472 (RMB 7,929,901)
(December 31, 2010 - nil; January 1, 2010 - nil) has been paid related to land use rights for
4,183 square metres of land. The land use right has not been received as at December 31,
2011.
On September 28, 2010, the Company signed a land lease agreement for the construction
of its second CNG refuelling station in Changsha City, Hunan Province. The lease term is
for 20 years, ending September 27, 2032. Upon signing the agreement, the Company paid
a deposit of $16,160 (RMB 100,000), which is expected to be refunded when the
agreement expires. The first year's rent of $54,298 (RMB 336,000) is required to be paid
upon commencement of construction. As at December 31, 2011, construction of the
refuelling station had not commenced.
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7.

Deposits and advances (continued):
In July 2010, Pingxiang CF entered into an agreement with Pingxiang Ceramic Industry
Park Management Committee to purchase the land use rights for 20 mu (approximately
1.33 hectares) of land. This land is expected to be used for construction of one gas gate
station to link Xiangdong District with a high pressure pipeline. Upon signing of the
agreement, the Company paid a deposit of $32,320 (RMB 200,000), with the remainder to
be paid upon transfer of the land use rights. Construction of the gas gate had not yet
commenced and the land use rights had not yet been transferred to the Company.
2

On September 8, 2008, the Company signed a land lease agreement for 3,000 m of land
for the construction of a CNG refuelling station in Changsha City, Hunan Province. The
lease term is for 20 years, expiring in October 2027. At the inception of this agreement, the
Company paid a deposit of $16,100 (RMB 100,000) and four years advanced rent of
$303,800 (RMB 1,880,000). As at December 31, 2011, $67,309 (RMB 416,517)
(December 31, 2010 - $133,775 (RMB 886,517); January 1, 2010 - $207,954 (RMB
1,356,517)) remains on deposit.
(c) Deposits toward to the purchase of natural gas:
(i) On June 27, 2011, the Company entered into a liquefied natural gas ("LNG") purchase
agreement pursuant to which the supplier agreed to provide 1,950,000 cubic metres
3
("m ") of LNG before December 31, 2011. This agreement was never executed as the
Company made no purchases of LNG from the supplier throughout the year. The initial
deposit of $80,800 (RMB 500,000) made pursuant to this agreement was refunded
prior to December 31, 2011.
(ii) On May 30, 2011, the Company entered into a supplementary agreement (the
"supplementary agreement") with a gas supplier with which it had previously signed two
agreements for the purchase of CNG. The original agreements, signed in 2009 (in
connection with the acquisition of Hunan CNPC NEI) and 2008, were to secure the
3
3
long-term supply of CNG up to 11,000,000 m and 3,650,000 m per year, respectively.
On signing the supplementary agreement, the Company had not purchased any CNG
pursuant to the original agreements, as the gas supplier was unable to supply any
CNG. As a result, the initial deposit of $242,400 (RMB 1,500,000) was repaid to the
Company and any remaining unpaid balances were waived.
Pursuant to the supplementary agreement, the gas supplier agreed to supply natural
gas to the Company once natural gas is available. At that time, the Company and the
gas supplier would enter into a one-year gas supply agreement, renewable annually,
with annual gas volume not less than previous contractual amounts.
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7.

Deposits and advances (continued):
(iii) On April 14, 2011, the Company entered into a new four-year CNG supply agreement
with its existing CNG gas supplier, which replaced its previous four-year CNG
agreement into which it entered on April 7, 2010. As part of this new agreement, the
Company agreed to purchase CNG for its operations in Sanya City up to a maximum of
3
5,000,000 m until 2015, with an annual volume of CNG to be adjusted based on the
Company's annual demand forecast. As at December 31, 2011, $193,920 (RMB
1,200,000) (2010 - $60,360 (RMB 400,000)) was paid as a deposit that is expected to
be repaid when the agreement expires.
(iv) On March 8, 2010, the Company entered into a five-year agreement to purchase LNG
from a third party for a period of five years related to its operations in Sanya City.
Pursuant to this agreement, LNG would be supplied 24 hours a day, and the daily
volume of LNG delivered will depend on the Company's forecast demand for the next
day. The initial deposit of $80,800 (RMB 500,000) made pursuant to this agreement
was used as partial payment for the purchase of natural gas.
(v) In 2006, the Company entered into a 10-year long-term natural gas supply agreement
with CNOOC (Hainan) Limited ("CNOOC") related to its distribution operations in
Sanya City, Hainan Province. Pursuant to the agreement, CNOOC is committed to
3
supply up to 24,000,000 m of natural gas annually until 2015 with a fixed contractual
price. Upon signing the agreement, the Company paid a deposit of $45,248
(RMB 280,000) that is expected to be refunded when the agreement expires.
(vi) Included in long-term deposits was $10,060 (RMB 62,250) in advance payments for a
Gas & Electricity Exchange Program (the "Program"). For more information see
note 24.

8.

Investment:
Xiangtan CF:
In July 2011, the Company, together with Xiangtan Economic Construction and Development
Investment Co., Ltd. ("Xiangtan Economic"), a company owned by the local municipality, and
Xiangtan Changjiang New Energy Investment Co., Ltd., a local investment company,
established a Chinese subsidiary, Xiangtan CF. This subsidiary has registered capital of
$1,616,000 (RMB 10,000,000), of which Changfeng owns 51%. The Company contributed
$323,200 (RMB 2,000,000) during 2011, and is required to contribute the remaining $500,960
(RMB 3,100,000) by July 14, 2013. The objective of Xiangtan CF is to (i) develop a natural gas
pipeline network to serve industrial, commercial and residential customers; and (ii) develop
CNG and LNG refuelling stations. This subsidiary has been consolidated from the date of its
incorporation.
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9.

Investment in associate:
In October 2011, the Company, together with Xiangtan Economic and a Zhuhai Hailian
Investment Co., Ltd., a private investment company, established Shin-Ko Energy with a total
registered capital of $1,616,000 (RMB 10,000,000), of which the Company owns 50%. The
objective of Shin-Ko Energy is to develop and invest in urban natural gas utilization, including
building and operating an LNG storage facility in Xiangtan City, Hunan Province, China. As of
December 31, 2011, the Company contributed its share of registered capital of $323,200
(RMB 2,000,000), and the remaining balance of $484,800 (RMB 3,000,000) is required to be
contributed by October 24, 2013 and has been recognized in long-term due to related parties.
The Company has determined that it has significant influence and has accounted for its
investment in Shin-Ko Energy using the equity method. The Company's share of the loss for
the year was $19,118.
Summary financial information, not adjusted for percentage ownership, is as follows:
2011
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities

$

294,484
1,292,800
(9,995)
–

Equity

$ 1,577,289

Revenue
Expenses

$

Loss

$

–
(38,236)
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(38,236)

10.

43,689
41,522
2,646,641

January 1, 2010
December 31, 2010
December 31, 2011

$

Buildings

Net book value

37,962

$

Balance, December 31, 2011

12,205
1,483
(191)
13,497
23,508
957

$

Buildings

Balance, December 31, 2010
Amortization
Foreign currency translation

Balance, January 1, 2010
Amortization
Foreign currency translation

Accumulated amortization

2,684,603

$

Balance, December 31, 2011

55,894
–
–
(875)
55,019
2,625,683
3,901

$

Buildings

Balance, December 31, 2010
Additions (transfers)
Foreign currency translation

Balance, January 1, 2010
Additions (transfers)
Interest capitalized
Foreign currency translation

Cost

Property and equipment:

Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
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$

$

$

$

$

21,706,262
31,097,195
34,515,755

Pipelines

7,616,225

5,884,453
1,329,044
402,728

5,219,210
746,420
(81,177)

Pipelines

42,131,980

36,981,648
2,528,041
2,622,291

26,925,472
10,052,447
425,263
(421,534)

Pipelines

875,275
831,863
859,032

Land use
rights

338,747

286,608
31,816
20,323

260,985
29,709
(4,086)

Land use
rights

1,197,779

1,118,471
–
79,308

1,136,260
–
–
(17,789)
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$

$

$

$

$

Land use
rights (b)

$

$

$

$

$

606,528
880,298
885,068

Motor
vehicles

564,893

356,639
182,965
25,289

212,430
147,535
(3,326)

Motor
vehicles

1,449,961

1,236,937
125,316
87,708

818,958
430,800
–
(12,821)

Motor
vehicles

4,826,240

2,712,768
1,921,116
192,356

2,336,419
412,927
–
(36,578)

1,114,190

805,289
251,800
57,101

664,125
151,562
(10,398)

$

1,672,294
1,907,479
3,712,050

Furniture and
equipment

$

$

Furniture and
equipment

$

$

Furniture and
equipment

395,506
–
28,045

–
395,506
–
–

39,203

23,073
16,756
(626)

–
23,073
–

$

–
372,433
384,348

Leasehold
improvements

$

$

Leasehold
improvements

$ 423,551

$

Leasehold
improvements

361,499

2,186,813
(1,980,379)
155,065

4,173,120
(1,986,307)
–
–

–

–
–
–

–
–
–

$

4,173,120
2,186,813
361,499

Construction
in progress (c)

$

$

Construction
in progress (c)

$

$

Construction
in progress (c)

$

$

$

$

$

29,077,168
37,317,603
43,364,393

Total

9,711,220

7,369,559
1,835,889
505,772

6,368,955
1,099,782
(99,178)

Total

53,075,613

44,687,162
5,219,777
3,168,674

35,446,123
9,305,373
425,263
(489,597)

Total
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10.

Property and equipment (continued):
(a) Included in additions to property and equipment is capitalized interest of nil (2010 $512,430 (RMB 3,366,823)) at a capitalization rate of nil (2010 - the prescribed lending rate
of the People's Bank of China).
(b) As at December 31, 2011, the Company held five land use rights certificates. They all have
a 50-year term and expire in 2051.
(c) Pipeline construction and equipment:
The Company has signed contracts with several equipment suppliers and construction
supervisors for a total amount of $3,470,049 (RMB 21,473,076) (December 31, 2010 $8,649,910 (RMB 57,322,135); January 1, 2010 - $2,163,000 (RMB 13,831,359)), of which
$2,139,222 (RMB 13,237,762) (December 31, 2010 - $7,462,336 (RMB 49,452,193);
January 1, 2010 - $197,447 (RMB 1,287,980)) has been paid as at December 31, 2011 and
was classified as construction in progress.

11.

Intangible assets:
Intangible assets consist of contractual rights to CNG gas supply that were acquired in
connection with Hunan CNPC NEI in 2009.
Cost

Total

Balance, January 1, 2010
Foreign currency translation

$ 536,550
(8,400)

Balance, December 31, 2010
Disposals
Foreign currency translation

528,150
(242,400)
45,751

Balance, December 31, 2011

$ 331,501

Accumulated amortization

Total

Balance, January 1, 2010 and December 31, 2010
Amortization
Foreign currency translation

$

–
30,620
1,700

Balance, December 31, 2011

$

32,320
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11.

Intangible assets (continued):
Net book value
January 1, 2010
December 31, 2010
December 31, 2011

12.

$

536,550
528,150
299,181

Long-term debt and bank indebtedness:

Term loan facility - China
Development Bank (a)
Term loan facility - Bank of China (b)
Term loan facility - Sanya State
Assets Management Corporation (c)
Term loan facility - Bank of China (d)

December 31,
2011

December 31,
2010

$

$

808,000
15,830,232

January 1,
2010

1,509,000
14,696,537

$ 3,464,580
–

–

–

6,469,260

–
16,638,232

–
16,205,537

1,533,000
11,466,840

1,616,000

754,500

8,400,840

$ 15,022,232

$ 15,451,037

$ 3,066,000

Less current portion

(a) This term loan from the China Development Bank was advanced by the China
Development Bank to Sanya State Assets Management Corporation (an intermediary
company controlled by the municipality of Sanya City, see (c)), which was immediately
loaned to the Company, bearing interest at the floating prescribed rate of the People's Bank
of China (7.05% and 5.81% as at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively), with
payments due quarterly. The outstanding amount as at December 31, 2011 is $808,000
(RMB 5,000,000) (December 31, 2010 - $1,509,000 (RMB 10,000,000); January 1, 2010 $3,464,580 (RMB 22,600,000)). The loan matures in November 2012, secured by all
pipelines, land use rights and gas distribution rights of the Company.
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12.

Long-term debt and bank indebtedness (continued):
(b) On January 5, 2010, the Company entered into a term loan with the Bank of China of
$16,160,000 (RMB 100,000,000) (December 31, 2010 - $15,090,000 (RMB 100,000,000);
January 1, 2010 - nil) maturing in January 2019 and bearing interest at the prescribed
lending rate of the People's Bank of China. Principal repayments commence in 2012. It is
secured by 60% of the interest in CF China held by HEL, and certain gas connection rights.
Upon entering into the agreement, the Company paid transaction costs of $484,800
(RMB 3,000,000) (December 31, 2010 - $452,700 (RMB 3,000,000)) to the Bank of China,
which was deducted from the amount initially recognized. The effective interest rate on the
loan is 7.4% (2010 - 6.3%). As of December 31, 2011, $122,932 (2010 - $59,237) has
been cumulatively accreted.
(c) This term loan from the Sanya State Assets Management Corporation of nil (December 31,
2010 - nil; January 1, 2010 - $6,469,260 (RMB 42,200,000)) was unsecured, with no fixed
terms of repayment. Interest was calculated at the floating prescribed rate of the Peoples'
Bank of China (5.76% as at January 1, 2010). The loan was repaid in January 2010 using
the proceeds from the Bank of China described in (b) above.
At January 1, 2010, this loan was classified as current because the Company had not
finalized a refinancing with the loan described in (b), which was used to repay this loan.
(d) This term loan from the Bank of China of nil (December 31, 2010 - nil; January 1, 2010 $1,533,000 (RMB 10,000,000)) bore interest at a rate of 110% of the floating prescribed
rate of the Peoples' Bank of China prime lending rate (January 1, 2010 - 6.34%). The loan
was repaid in January 2010 using the proceeds from the Bank of China described in (b)
above.
(e) Bank indebtedness:
On March 3, 2011, the Bank of China increased its loan facility by $4,848,000
(RMB 30,000,000) in the form of a one-year line of credit (the "Credit Line"), for which
principal repayments are due one year from the date of withdrawal. The Credit Line is
secured by the same collateral as that for the term loan as described in (b). As at
December 31, 2011, the Company had drawn $4,848,000 (RMB 30,000,000) against the
Credit Line. See note 24(b) for further information.
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12.

Long-term debt and bank indebtedness (continued):
(f) As at December 31, 2011, the Company had accrued interest of $2,104,388
(RMB 13,022,204) (December 31, 2010 - $1,965,051 (RMB 13,022,204); January 1, 2010 $1,996,304 (RMB 13,022,204)) in connection with the bank loans as described in (a) for the
years prior to 2007. The accrued interest was originally paid by Sanya State Assets
Management Corporation to the bank on behalf of the Company; however, Sanya State
Assets Management Corporation has yet requested repayment.
Long-term loan principal payments are as follows:

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereafter

13.

RMB

Cdn. $

10,000,000
5,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
10,000,000
60,000,000

1,616,000
808,000
1,616,000
1,616,000
1,616,000
9,696,000

105,000,000

16,968,000

Number of
shares

Amount

66,025,000

$ 12,121,808

Share capital:
(a) Authorized:
Unlimited common shares
(b) Issued common shares:

Balance, December 31, 2011 and 2010

The common shares outstanding have a par value of nil.
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13.

Share capital (continued):
(c) Contributed surplus and stock-based compensation:
(i) Contributed surplus:

Balance January 1, 2010
Warrants expired
Stock-based compensation

$ 1,190,509
321,724
249,935

Balance, December 31, 2010
Stock-based compensation

1,762,168
101,206

Balance, December 31, 2011

$ 1,863,374

(ii) Stock-based compensation:
Under the Company's stock option plan (the "Plan"), the Company may grant stock
options to directors, senior officers, employees and advisors, and is authorized to issue
options equal to 10% of the issued and outstanding shares of the Company. The
Board of Directors, or such other persons designated by the board, administers the
Plan and determines the vesting and terms of each award.
A summary of the Company's options granted and exercised is presented below:

Options
outstanding

Weighted
average
exercise
price

Balance, December 31, 2009
Granted

3,450,000
1,200,000

Balance, December 31, 2010
Granted
Forfeited
Expired

4,650,000
2,300,000
(1,125,000)
(525,000)

0.60
0.23
0.27
0.56

Balance, December 31, 2011

5,300,000

0.51
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13.

Share capital (continued):
The following table summarizes information about the options outstanding and
exercisable at December 31, 2011:
Number
outstanding
and
exercisable

Remaining
contractual life
(in years)

3,000,000
50,000
950,000
1,300,000

1.06
1.65
3.41
4.70

5,300,000

2.38

Exercise
price
$

0.60
0.60
0.60
0.23

Expiry
date
2013
2013
2015
2016

On September 8, 2011, 1,300,000 options were granted to officers, directors and
employees of the Company at an exercise price of $0.23 per share for a period of five
years and vested immediately. The fair value of these options at the grant date was
$0.08.
Assumptions used to determine the value of the options using the
Black-Scholes option pricing model were: dividend yield 0%; risk-free interest rate
1.4%; expected volatility 68%; and expected life of five years. The Company's stock
price was $0.16 on September 8, 2011.
On July 5, 2011, 1,000,000 options were granted to a senior officer of the Company,
which were subsequently forfeited on September 2, 2011.
On May 28, 2010, the Company granted options to directors, senior officers,
employees and advisors of the Company to acquire 1,200,000 common shares of the
Company at an exercise price of $0.60 per share on or before May 27, 2015, of which
800,000 vested immediately, and the remaining balance will vest within a year. All
options that had not vested by December 31, 2010 were forfeited during 2011. The fair
value of these options at the grant date was $0.21. Assumptions used to determine the
value of the options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model were: dividend yield
0%; risk-free interest rate 2.64%; expected volatility (69)%; and expected life of five
years. The Company's stock price was $0.42 on May 28, 2010.
The fair value of options granted during the year was $101,206 (2010 - $249,935) and
is amortized to income on a graded basis over the vesting periods of the related
income.
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14.

Earnings per share:
Basic earnings per share ("EPS") amounts are calculated by dividing the net earnings
attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average of shares
issued during the year. Diluted EPS amounts are calculated by dividing the net earnings
attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of
shares issued during the year, adjusted for the effect of potentially dilutive stock options.
The following table sets forth the calculation of basic and diluted EPS:

Basic and diluted

Net income
attributable
to common
shareholders

2011
Weighted
average
number of
shares

EPS

$ 1,384,985

66,025,000

$ 0.021

2010
Weighted
average
number of
shares

EPS

66,025,000

$ 0.015

Net income
attributable
to common
shareholders
$

966,181

At December 31, 2011, there were no potentially dilutive stock options outstanding; however,
these options may be dilutive in future periods.
15.

Income taxes:
The provision for income taxes differs from the amount that would have resulted by applying
the combined Canadian Federal and Ontario statutory income tax rates of approximately 28%
(2010 - 31%):

Income before income taxes

Expected income tax provision based on
statutory rate
Non-deductible expenditures and other
permanent differences
Foreign tax rate differential
Tax benefits not recognized
Other

2011

2010

$ 2,540,717

$ 1,914,127

$

$

717,800
315,400
(153,400)
311,600
(21,823)

$ 1,169,577
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$
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15.

Income taxes (continued):
Components of income taxes:
The details of the Company's income taxes are as follows:

Current income taxes

2011

2010

$ 1,027,518

$ 761,900

142,059
–
142,059

101,000
94,800
195,800

$ 1,169,577

$ 957,700

Deferred income taxes:
Origination and reversal of timing differences
Derecognition of previously recognized tax losses

Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities:
The following table summarizes the components of deferred tax assets and liabilities:
December 31,
2011
Property and equipment
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Loss carryforwards

December 31,
2010

January 1,
2010

$ (179,356)
(104,620)
141,917
–

$ (60,600)
(48,900)
109,500
–

$ 102,640
–
–
94,800

$ (142,059)

$

$ 197,440

–

Unrecognized deferred tax assets and liabilities:
The aggregate amount of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries, for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognized, as at December 31,
2011 is $4.188 million (2010 - $1.537 million).
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of the following items:

Loss carryforwards
Deductible temporary differences
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2010

$ 1,457,162
222,600

$ 1,085,200
283,000
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15.

Income taxes (continued):
The tax losses not recognized expire as per the amount and years noted below.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognized in respect of these items because it is not
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the Company can utilize the
benefits therefrom.
Income tax attributes not recognized:
As at December 31, 2011, the Company had the following approximate income tax attributes to
carry forward:

Non-capital losses, Canada
Non-capital losses, China
Capital losses, Canada

16.

Amount

Expiry date

$ 4,427,000
1,283,000
119,000

2025 - 2031
2014 - 2016
Indefinite

Related party disclosures:
(a) Related party entities and transactions:
The Company's related parties are its subsidiaries, investment in associate and key
management personnel, as well as the following:
Name

Country of incorporation and relationship

Sanya Changkai Industrial
Development Co., Ltd. (i)

China, corporation controlled by significant
shareholder, officer and director

Sanya Changfeng Natural Gas
Distribution Co., Ltd.

China, corporation controlled by significant
shareholder, officer and director

Xiangtan Economic Construction and
Development Investment Co., Ltd. (iii)

China, minority shareholder of Xiangtan CF

Xiangtan Changjiang New Energy
Investment Co., Ltd.

China, minority shareholder of Xiangtan CF

Zhuhai Hailian Investment Co., Ltd.

China, shareholder of Shin-Ko Energy

Cui JianXin

China, minority shareholder of Hunan CNPC NEI

Zhou Du (ii)

China, minority shareholder of Hunan CF CNPC
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16.

Related party disclosures (continued):
(i) As at December 31, 2011, this corporation, which is controlled by a significant
shareholder who is also an officer and director of the Company, owed the Company a
total of $78,076 (U.S. $78,928) as at December 31, 2011 (December 31, 2010 $78,501 (U.S. $78,928); January 1, 2010 - $80,740 (U.S. $76,822)) for various
expenditures paid by the Company on behalf of this corporation.
(ii) As at December 31, 2011, the Company had an outstanding loan of $323,200
(RMB 2,000,000) (December 31, 2010 - $301,800 (RMB 2,000,000); January 1, 2010 304,400 (RMB 2,000,000)) due from this minority shareholder of Hunan CF CNPC,
which used the funds to contribute the capital it owed to that subsidiary. The loan is
unsecured and non-interest bearing. The minority shareholder has waived its right to
any future profit that it would otherwise be allocated until the loan is repaid. The
Company will begin recording this shareholder's profit allocation prospectively at the
time the loan has been repaid.
(iii) During the third quarter of 2011, the Company made a short-term loan of $814,000
(RMB 5,000,000) (2010 - nil) to Xiangtan Economic Construction and Development
Investment Co., Ltd., a minority shareholder of Xiangtan CF and Shin-Ko Energy. The
loan was secured and bore an annual interest rate of 15%. It was subsequently repaid
on October 21, 2011.
(b) Transactions with key management personnel:
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company and/or its subsidiaries,
directly or indirectly, including any external director of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.
Key management personnel include: the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial
Officer, the Vice President, Investor Relations and the Company's directors.
Remuneration of key management of the Company comprises the following expenses:
2011

2010

Salaries, bonuses and fees

$

478,395

$ 414,171

Total short-term employee benefits
Share-based benefits
Termination benefits

$

478,395
101,205
45,000

$ 414,171
249,935
–

Total remuneration

$

624,600

$ 664,106
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16.

Related party disclosures (continued):
(i) In 2007, a significant shareholder, who is also an officer and director of the Company
advanced loans in the aggregate amount of $6,464,000 (RMB 40,000,000)
(December 31, 2010 - 6,036,000 (RMB 40,000,000); January 1, 2010 - $6,132,000
(RMB 40,000,000)) to the Company, through wholly owned corporations, in accordance
with a Subordination and Forbearance Agreement dated April 27, 2007, Consignment
Loan Agreements dated May 23, 2007 and June 26, 2007, and other ancillary
documentation. These loans are unsecured, non-interest bearing, subordinate to the
claims of all other creditors, including unsecured creditors of the Company, and were
due on demand only after April 27, 2010.
On April 27, 2010, these loans were renewed for another three years with the same
terms and conditions and are due on demand only after April 27, 2013.
(ii) As at December 31, 2011, the Company owed an officer and director of the Company
$427,843 (December 31, 2010 - $320,879; January 1, 2010 - $200,510) for unpaid
salary.
(iii) On November 22, 2010, the Company loaned $10,000 to an officer of the Company.
This loan is unsecured, non-interest bearing and has no fixed terms of repayment. As
at December 31, 2011, the full $10,000 was outstanding.
(iv) During 2011 and 2010, key management personnel did not exercise share options
granted under the Company's stock option plan.

17.

Change in non-cash operating working capital:
2011
Trade and other receivables and due from related parties
Prepaid expenses and deposits
Inventories
Trade and other payables and due to related parties
Deferred revenue

37

$

(528,203)
(169,113)
(110,133)
552,745
998,425

$

743,721

2010
$

(679,077)
(39,910)
(101)
2,280,563
1,162,877

$ 2,724,352
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18.

Commitments and contingencies:
The Company has operating lease commitments and contractual obligations as follows, except
for those reported in note 7(c):

2012
2013
2014
2015
2016
Thereafter

RMB

Cdn. $

654,250
829,500
829,500
829,500
863,100
13,446,916

105,727
134,047
134,047
134,047
139,477
2,173,022

17,452,766

2,820,367

Statutory reserves:
In accordance with PRC Company Law, CF China, as a foreign invested enterprise, is required
to provide for certain statutory reserves, including a surplus reserve fund, enterprise
development fund, and employee welfare fund, each at a percentage of after-tax profits, which
is a discretionary percentage and is decided by the CF China's Board of Directors each
calendar year. These reserves can only be used for specific purposes and are not transferred
to the Company in the form of loans, advances, or cash dividends. These reserves can be
distributed to the shareholder of CF China at the time when CF China is wound up. The
Company has not allocated any retained earnings to statutory reserves because the Company
has not issued a dividend as at December 31, 2011.
19.

Capital management:
The Company considers its capital structure to consist of share capital, contributed surplus and
long-term debt. The Company's objectives are to maintain an effective structure that supports
its ability to explore strategic business development opportunities on mainland China along the
PetroChina's Second West-East Pipeline and to maintain a flexible capital structure which
optimizes the costs of capital at an acceptable risk level. The Company manages its capital
structure and makes adjustments to it, based on the funds available to the Company. The
Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on capital criteria for management, but
rather is responsible for overseeing the process undertaken by the Company's management to
sustain future development of its business.
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19.

Capital management (continued):
The Company's strategy is to satisfy its liquidity needs using cash on hand, cash flows
generated from operating activities and through its the Credit Line. Gas supply revenue, gas
connection revenue, available cash balances, draws on the Credit Line and long-term bank
loans are the Company's principal sources of capital used to pay for operating expenses and
capital expenditures in its business.
The Company reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that
this approach, given the relative size of its operations, is reasonable. The Company monitors
its compliance with all of its capital requirements, including certain non-financial covenants
relating to the Credit Line. As at December 31, 2011, the Company was in compliance with all
of its covenants.
There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010. The Company does not pay dividends.

20.

Financial instruments and risk management:
(a) Fair values:
These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties in significant matters of
judgment and, therefore, cannot be determined with precision. Changes in assumptions
could significantly affect these estimates.
As at December 31, 2011, the fair value of trade and other receivables and trade and other
payables on the consolidated balance sheets approximate carrying value because of the
limited term of these instruments.
As at December 31, 2011, the fair value of long-term debt was $16,968,000 (RMB
105,000,000), as compared to its carrying value of $16,638,232 (RMB 102,959,356) on the
consolidated balance sheets. The carrying values of the Company's due to and due from
related parties balances approximate fair value. The Company's financial instruments that
are carried at fair value, consisting of cash, have been classified as Level 1 within the fair
value hierarchy.
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20.

Financial instruments and risk management (continued):
(b) Financial risk factors:
The Company's risk exposures and the impact on the Company's financial instruments are
summarized below:
(i) Foreign exchange risk:
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that fluctuations in foreign exchange rates will affect
the Company's income or value of or cash flow related to its financial instruments. The
Company is exposed to currency risk as substantially all of the assets, liabilities and
operations of the Company are denominated in RMB. The appreciation or devaluation
of RMB against the Canadian dollar may have a positive or negative impact on the
results of operations of the Company. At December 31, 2011, substantially all of the
Company's cash and all of its debt, as described in note 12, were denominated in a
foreign currency.
The Company and its subsidiaries do not use derivative instruments to reduce their
exposure to foreign currency risk.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company held foreign currency cash of
RMB 31,203,589 (2010 - RMB 17,524,478) and U.S. $23,768 (2010 - U.S. $23,768).
As at December 31, 2011, with other variables unchanged, a +/-1% change in the
U.S. dollar to Canadian dollar exchange rate would increase/decrease net income for
the year by $235 (U.S. $237), and a +/-1% change in the exchange rate of RMB would
increase/decrease the cumulative translation adjustment by $37,301 (RMB 243,640).
(ii) Commodity price risk:
The Company is exposed to price risk related to natural gas, which is a commodity.
The Company uses fixed-price contracts with suppliers to manage its exposure to price
fluctuations, where possible; however, to meet its obligations to customers, the
Company may be required to purchase natural gas at spot prices, which may result in
unfavourable variances recorded through the consolidated statements of
comprehensive income.
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20.

Financial instruments and risk management (continued):
(iii) Interest rate risk:
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will affect the Company's
income or value of or cash flows related to its financial instruments. The Company is
exposed to interest rate risk arising from its long-term debt and bank indebtedness.
The Company's interest rate on its debt and indebtedness is based upon the
prescribed rate of the People's Bank of China (7.05% at December 31, 2011, and
5.81% at December 31, 2010), which is subject to fluctuation, and may result in an
increase or decrease in interest expense. The Company does not use derivative
instruments to reduce its exposure to interest rate risk.
A 1% increase or decrease in the average interest rate charged on the Bank of China
term loan described in note 12 for the year ended December 31, 2011 would have had
the following impact on the Company's net income:
Impact on
net income
Interest rate +1%
Interest rate -1%

$

(243,640)
243,640

(iv) Credit risk:
Credit risk arises from exposure to customers including outstanding trade and other
receivables. Historically, the Company has not had collection issues associated with its
receivables and the aging of receivables is reviewed on a regular basis to ensure the
timely collection of amounts owing to the Company. As a result, the Company's
allowance for doubtful accounts that represents its estimate of uncollectible amounts is
minimal. The Company reviews accounts for specific risks to ensure the balance is
reasonable. As at December 31, 2011, the Company has recorded an allowance for
doubtful accounts of $15,616 (December 31, 2010 - $14,463; January 1, 2010 $5,138).
The Company manages its credit risk by entering into purchase and connection
agreements with creditworthy parties and through regular review of trade and other
receivables. Management believes concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade
and other receivables is limited given the large number of customers; no one customer
comprised greater than 10% of total trade and other receivables balances at
December 31, 2011. Payments are usually required in advance for gas purchases and
connection services.
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20.

Financial instruments and risk management (continued):
(v) Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they become due. The Company manages liquidity risk by managing its
capital requirements though forecasting cash flows and monitoring covenant levels.
The Company has also maintained continuous efforts to access intermediate or longterm bank financing on competitive terms.
The contractual maturities of the Company's long-term financial liabilities are described
in note 12 and the remaining financial liabilities, consisting of trade and other payables,
are expected to be realized within one year.
As at December 31, 2011, the Company had a cash balance of $5,061,517
(December 31, 2010 - $2,670,113; January 1, 2010 - $3,782,250) to settle current
liabilities of $19,948,435 (December 31, 2010 - $11,986,691; January 1, 2010 $16,821,684). See note 2(a) for discussion on how the Company intends to settle its
current liabilities.

21.

Economic dependence:
One gas field supplies the majority of the Company's natural gas in Sanya City whereas
interruption of this supply could materially affect the Company's ability to operate. Currently,
3
the Company has a contract to purchase up to 24,000,000 m gas per year, which represents
less than 1% of the field's total capacity from this supplier until December 30, 2015.

22.

Seasonality of operations:
Seasonality can impact the Company's pipeline natural gas sales. The Company's current
operations are primarily located in Sanya City, an international tourist destination in the PRC's
only tropical province. Sanya City attracts more tourists in winter and spring than the rest of the
year. The Company's natural gas sales are higher during the high tourism seasons of winter
and spring as a large portion of the Company's natural gas sales are made to hotels and
restaurants.

42

CHANGFENG ENERGY INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated)
Years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010

23.

Segmented reporting:
The Company has three reportable segments: gas connection, pipeline gas sales and CNG
refuelling sales. Two of these segments (gas connection and pipeline sales) combine to form a
gas distribution utility, which is currently the Company's primary operation. The utility delivers
natural gas to commercial, industrial and residential customers through its pipeline networks
and associated facilities. The Company's third business segment is a CNG refuelling retail
station which is mainly used to supply gas for taxicab and public vehicles. The performance of
each segment is measured by income from operations.
Transactions between reportable segments; namely, the transfer of certain pipeline assets from
the gas connection segment to the pipeline gas sales segment, have been accounted for based
on the carrying values of the assets transferred. There were no significant intercompany
transactions between the business segments. Neither in 2011 nor in 2010 did any single
customer account for more than 10% of the Company's sales.
The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as described in note 3.
Summarized financial information concerning the reportable segments is shown in the following
tables:
Gas
connection

December 31, 2011
Revenue
Cost of sales

$ 10,326,800
6,096,751
4,230,049

Expenses:
General and administrative
Travel and business development

Pipeline gas
sales
$

1,506,172
1,125,878
2,632,050

Income from operations

$

Acquisition of property
and equipment
Investment in associate

$

Total assets, December 31, 2011

$

1,597,999

(94,394)
–

6,048,604
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15,366,861
8,212,971
7,153,890

CNG refuelling
sales
$

3,271,700
1,545,004
4,816,704

2,482,020
2,157,472
324,548

Consolidated
$

284,491
18,019
302,510

28,175,681
16,467,194
11,708,487

5,062,363
2,688,901
7,751,264

$

2,337,186

$

22,038

$

3,957,223

$

(4,439,565)
(787,821)

$

(415,056)
–

$

(4,949,015)
(787,821)

$

47,290,629

$

$

55,617,960

2,278,727
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23.

Segmented information (continued):
Gas
connection

December 31, 2010
Revenue
Cost of sales

$

Expenses:
General and administrative
Travel and business
development

8,229,301
4,923,911
3,305,390

Pipeline gas
sales
$

12,972,926
5,906,369
7,066,557

CNG refuelling
sales
$

932,991
976,205
(43,214)

Consolidated
$

22,135,218
11,806,485
10,328,733

1,385,909

2,654,129

566,389

4,606,427

1,233,873
2,619,782

1,829,192
4,483,321

108,213
674,602

3,171,278
7,777,705

Income (loss) from operations

$

685,608

$

2,583,236

$

(717,816)

$

2,551,028

Acquisition of property
and equipment

$

(317,393)

$

(9,130,797)

$

(515,100)

$

(9,963,290)

Total assets, December 31, 2010

$

$

39,215,677

$

$

44,756,039

Gas
connection

January 1, 2010
Total assets

2,626,340

$

3,509,916

Pipeline gas
sales
$

32,649,478

2,914,022

CNG refuelling
sales
$

–

Consolidated
$

36,159,394

Geographic information:
The Company's revenue is wholly generated from China and the majority of its assets are
located in China. For the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, there is no significant
individual customer from which sales amounted to more than 10% of the Company's revenue.
24.

Subsequent events:
(a) On February 22, 2012, the Company entered into a Program with the Local Power Bureau,
which will ultimately secure an additional annual supply of natural gas totalling
approximately 5 million cubic meters until 2015. In exchange for this gas supply, the
Company will build infrastructure to link certain of the supplier's operations to the provincial
power grid. The total anticipated capital expenditure related to the Program is $1,417,232
(approximately RMB 8,770,000). This additional gas supply is expected to be available to
the Company by the second half of 2012, once $1,095,285 (approximately RMB 6,777,759)
of the first phase of construction work has been completed. In connection with the
Program, on March 15, 2012, the Company prepaid approximately $323,200
(RMB 2,000,000) to a local contractor for work to be performed during 2012.
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24.

Subsequent events (continued):
(b) On March 16, 2012, the Bank of China renewed the Credit Line for an additional year. As
part of the agreement, the Company is subject to a financial covenant that requires the
Company's debt-to-total-assets ratio to be maintained below 80%. All other terms remain
unchanged.
(c) The loan made to an officer of the Company per note 16(b)(iii) was repaid in February
2012.

25.

First-time adoption of IFRS:
These annual consolidated financial statements are the first that have been prepared in
accordance with IFRS. The accounting policies set out in note 3 have been applied in
preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2011, the
comparative information presented in these consolidated financial statements for the year
ended December 31, 2010 and the opening consolidated balance sheet at January 1, 2010. As
a result, application of IFRS 1 is required. IFRS 1 requires first-time adopters to retrospectively
apply all effective IFRS standards as of the reporting date (December 31, 2011), providing
certain optional exemptions and mandatory exceptions. Prior to the transition to IFRS, the
Company prepared its financial statements in accordance with Canadian GAAP.
An explanation of how the transition from Canadian GAAP to IFRS has affected the Company's
financial position, financial performance and cash flows, is set out in the following
reconciliations and the explanatory notes that accompany the reconciliations. Reconciliations
of the consolidated balance sheets and statements of comprehensive income and changes in
equity for the respective periods are below. Changes to the cash flows were not material as a
result of the conversion to IFRS.
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25.

First-time adoption of IFRS (continued):
In preparing the Company's opening IFRS consolidated balance sheet, the Company has
adjusted amounts previously reported in the financial statements prepared in accordance with
Canadian GAAP. The IFRS 1 applicable exemptions and exceptions applied in the conversion
from Canadian GAAP to IFRS are described below:
(a) Optional exemptions:
(i) Business combinations:
IFRS 1 provides an exemption that allows an entity to elect not to retrospectively
restate business combinations prior to the transition date in accordance with IFRS 3,
Business Combinations ("IFRS 3"). The retrospective basis would require restatement
of all business combinations that occurred prior to the transition date. The Company
elected not to retrospectively apply IFRS 3 to business combinations that occurred prior
to the transition date and such business combinations have not been restated.
(ii) Borrowing costs:
IAS 23, Borrowing Costs ("IAS 23"), requires an entity to capitalize borrowing costs
relating to qualifying assets. Under IFRS 1, an entity may elect to apply the transitional
provisions of IAS 23, which allow an entity to choose the date to apply the capitalization
of borrowing costs relating to all qualifying assets as either the transition date or an
earlier date. The Company elected to apply the transitional provisions of IAS 23 and
chose the transition date as the date to commence the capitalization of borrowing costs
to all qualifying assets.
(iii) Share-based payment transactions:
IFRS 1 allows an entity to elect to be exempt from restrospectively applying the
requirements of IFRS 2, Share-based Payments ("IFRS 2") for awards that are vested
or settled prior to the transition date. The Company has elected to apply this
exemption. As a result of applying this exemption, the Company has applied the
provisions of IFRS 2 only to all outstanding equity instruments that are unvested as at
the transition date. There were no such instruments unvested at the transition date.
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25.

First-time adoption of IFRS (continued):
(iv) Cumulative translation differences:
Retrospective application of IFRS would require the Company to determine cumulative
currency translation differences in accordance with IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in
Foreign Exchange Rates, from the date a foreign subsidiary or associate was formed or
acquired. IFRS 1 allows an entity to elect not to calculate these translation differences
retrospectively, and instead to reset cumulative translation gains and losses to zero at
the transition date. The Company has elected to reset to zero all cumulative translation
gains and losses that existed in the cumulative translation adjustment ("CTA"). The
CTA balance of $778,791 as at January 1, 2010 under Canadian GAAP was recorded
as an adjustment to retained earnings, with an offset to accumulated other
comprehensive income, resulting in no impact on total equity.
(v) Fair value as deemed cost:
IFRS 1 allows an entity to elect to measure property and equipment at fair value in the
opening IFRS balance sheet. Fair value would then become the deemed cost of the
item. Alternatively, an entity can retrospectively apply the historical cost model in
IAS 16, Property, Plant and Equipment, to arrive at the carrying value of property and
equipment at the transition date. The Company elected to retrospectively apply the
historical cost model for property and equipment on the transition date.
(b) Mandatory exceptions:
(i) Non-controlling interests:
IAS 27, Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements, requires that total
comprehensive income be attributed to the owners of the parent, as well as to the noncontrolling interests, even if this attribution results in a deficit balance for the noncontrolling interests. The Company applied this requirement prospectively from the
transition date.
(ii) Estimates:
The estimates previously made by the Company under Canadian GAAP cannot be
revised for the application of IFRS, except where necessary to reflect any difference in
accounting policy or where there was objective evidence that those estimates were in
error. The Company has not used hindsight to revise estimates.
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25.

First-time adoption of IFRS (continued):
(c) Reconciliation of Canadian GAAP to IFRS:
In preparing its first annual consolidated IFRS consolidated financial statements, the
Company has adjusted amounts previously reported in its financial statements prepared in
accordance with Canadian GAAP.
The adjustments made to the consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of
comprehensive income are explained below. Changes to the net cash flows were not
material as a result of the conversion to IFRS and, accordingly, no reconciliation is made
for the consolidated statements of cash flows.
(i) Adjustments made to the consolidated balance sheets:
(a) Deferred taxes:
IAS 12, Income Taxes, provides specific guidance that prohibits the recognition of
deferred tax liabilities on the acquisition of assets that were not acquired in a
business combination, where a "business" is defined by specific criteria under
IFRS 3, Business Combinations. Canadian GAAP does not include such a
restriction. Upon its acquisition of Hunan CNPC NEI in 2009, the Company
recorded a deferred tax liability related to the intangible asset acquired. Hunan
CNPC NEI did not meet the criteria of a "business" under IFRS upon acquisition,
resulting in the reversal of a recognized deferred tax liability (December 31, 2010 $100,600; January 1, 2010 - $102,200) and a decrease in intangible assets on
transition.
(b) Long-term debt:
IAS 1, Presentation of Financial Statements, provides guidance that requires a
financial liability that is due to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date is
classified as current, regardless of whether an agreement to refinance the loan was
obtained after the reporting date. Canadian GAAP permits reclassification to longterm in the case where an agreement to refinance a loan is obtained between the
reporting date and the completion of the financial statements. As discussed in
note 12, at January 1, 2010, a loan of $6,469,260 (RMB 42,000,000), with no fixed
repayment terms, payable to the Sanya State Assets Management Corporation
was reclassified as current because the Company had not finalized a refinancing
with its RMB 100,000,000 long-term bank loan until after December 31, 2009, a
loan which was used to repay the RMB 10,000,000 loan due in 2010.
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25.

First-time adoption of IFRS (continued):
(ii) Reconciliation of shareholders' equity as reported under Canadian GAAP to total equity
under IFRS:
December 31,
2010
Shareholders' equity reported under
Canadian GAAP
Reclassification of non-controlling
interest to total equity under IFRS
Differences increasing reported total
equity:
Plant and equipment (a)

$ 10,801,374

Total equity under IFRS

January 1,
2010
$

9,595,110

671,444

681,197

(190,507)

(136,597)

$ 11,282,311

$ 10,139,710

(a) Plant and equipment:
IFRS provides more specific guidance than Canadian GAAP on the capitalization
and componentization of plant and equipment. Specifically, IFRS requires that
each part of an identifiable item of plant and equipment with a cost that is
significant in relation to the total cost of the item shall be capitalized and amortized
separately. As a result of this difference, the Company determined that certain
assets must be separately capitalized components under IFRS. The retrospective
application of this standard resulted in a decrease in total equity, being the
cumulative incremental amortization that would have been expensed in prior
periods had these assets been separately identified and amortized.
(iii) Reconciliation of net income as reported under Canadian GAAP to IFRS:
Year ended
December 31, 2010
Net income under Canadian GAAP
Add back non-controlling interest (a)
Difference decreasing reported amount:
Amortization of assets components (b)

$ 1,020,091
(9,754)

Net income under IFRS

$
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25.

First-time adoption of IFRS (continued):
(a) Non-controlling interest:
Non-controlling interests is included in the determination of net income under
Canadian GAAP. Under IFRS, net income is attributed to both the controlling and
non-controlling interests. This adjustment includes non-controlling interest in the
determination of net income, resulting in an increase to net income.
(b) Amortization of assets components:
The impact of componentization of assets with different depreciation methods or
rates, as required under IFRS, resulted in an increase in amortization expense and
decrease in net income under IFRS compared to Canadian GAAP.
(iv) Reconciliation of comprehensive income as reported under Canadian GAAP to IFRS:
Year ended
December 31, 2010
Comprehensive income underCanadian GAAP
Difference decreasing reported amount:
Differences in net income (a)
Currency translation adjustment

$ 956,329

Comprehensive income under IFRS

$ 892,665

(63,664)
–

(a) Differences in net income:
Reflects the differences in net income between Canadian GAAP and IFRS, as
described in the reconciliation of net income as reported under Canadian GAAP to
IFRS.
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